
COUNCIL 
 

A meeting of Council will be held at Council Chamber, Fenland Hall, County Road, 
March on MONDAY, 20 MAY 2024 at 4.00 PM and I request you to attend accordingly 
for transaction of the following business: 
 

1   To receive apologies for absence.  
 

2   To elect a Chairman for the period to the next Annual Meeting and to 
resolve that an allowance of £4,120 plus travelling expenses to be paid 
to the person elected.  
 

3   To elect a  Vice Chairman for the period to the next Annual Meeting and 
to resolve that an allowance of £1,000 plus travelling expenses to be 
paid to the person elected.  
 

4   Previous Minutes (Pages 3 - 14) 
 
To confirm and sign the minutes of 26 February 2024. 

 
5   To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Council 

and/or the Head of Paid Service.  
 

6   Meetings of the Council 2024/25  
 
To determine that: 

1. The Annual Meeting of the Council in 2025 be held on:  

 Monday    19 May 2025 
 

2. Ordinary meetings of the Council in 2024/25 be held as follows: 
  

Monday     15 July 2024 
 Monday     30 September 2024 
 Monday     16 December 2024 
 Monday     24 February 2025 

 
7   To receive members' declaration of any interests under the Local Code 

of Conduct or any interest under the Code of Conduct on Planning 
Matters in respect of any item to be discussed at the meeting.  
 

8   To receive questions from, and provide answers to, councillors in 
relation to matters which, in the opinion of the Chairman, accord with 
the provisions of Procedure Rules 8.4 and 8.6.  
 

9   To receive reports from and ask questions of Cabinet members with 
portfolio holder responsibilities, in accordance with Procedure Rules 8.1 
and 8.2. (Pages 15 - 64) 
 

10   Motion submitted by Councillor Matthew Summers (Pages 65 - 66) 
 
Motion submitted by Councillor Summers regarding Planning.  

 

Public Document Pack



11   Motion submitted by Councillor Chris Boden (Pages 67 - 68) 
 
Motion submitted by Councillor Boden regarding the use of industrial 

bottom ash aggregates (IBAA). 

 
12   Committee Balance, Political Balance and Allocation of Seats (Pages 

69 - 84) 
 
To agree the committee structures and terms of reference for the 

forthcoming municipal year as well as confirming the allocation of seats 

to those committees and also to outside bodies in accordance with 

political proportionality rules and to receive notification of the 

appointments to committees. 

 
13   Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Combined Authority Appointments 

(Pages 85 - 92) 
 
This report requests the Council to make appointments to the 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority for the 

municipal year 2024/25.  

 
 
 
 
Fenland Hall 
March 

 
 

Chief Executive 
                      
Friday, 10 May 2024 
 
 
NOTE  The Council may, by resolution, as exemplified below, exclude the public from 

a meeting during the consideration of any item of business whenever it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of 
the proceedings that, if members of the public were present, there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in Section 100 I of the 
Local Government Act, 1972 

 
"Resolved that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for Item No./Minute No.        on the 
grounds that the item involves the disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in Paragraph       of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act" 



 
 

COUNCIL 
 

 
MONDAY, 26 FEBRUARY 2024 - 4.00 PM 

 
PRESENT: Councillor N Meekins (Chairman), Councillor B Barber (Vice-Chairman), Councillor 
I Benney, Councillor C Boden, Councillor J Carney, Councillor G Christy, Councillor J Clark, 
Councillor S Clark, Councillor D Connor, Councillor S Count, Councillor D Cutler, Councillor 
Mrs M Davis, Councillor L Foice-Beard, Councillor Mrs J French, Councillor K French, Councillor 
A Gowler, Councillor P Hicks, Councillor Miss S Hoy, Councillor M Humphrey, Councillor 
S Imafidon, Councillor P Murphy, Councillor Dr H Nawaz, Councillor D Oliver, Councillor D Patrick, 
Councillor M Purser, Councillor B Rackley, Councillor D Roy, Councillor C Seaton, Councillor 
E Sennitt Clough, Councillor M Summers, Councillor T Taylor, Councillor S Tierney, Councillor 
S Wallwork and Councillor Woollard 
 
APOLOGIES: Councillor G Booth, Councillor R Gerstner, Councillor A Hay, Councillor 
Mrs D Laws, Councillor C Marks, Councillor A Miscandlon and Councillor J Mockett 
 
 
The Chairman announced that in accordance with Paragraph 2.2 of the Standing Orders, he has 
permitted an urgent item, which was not included in the original summons, to be placed before 
Council for consideration. The extra item is a Motion submitted by Councillor Tierney in relation to 
the proposed Medworth Incinerator and now appears on the Agenda as Item 15.  
 
The Chairman considered this item to be urgent on the basis that there is a period of only six 
weeks within which it would be possible to initiate a judicial review of the Medworth Energy from 
Waste Combined Heat and Power Facility Development Constant Decision thought to have been 
taken by the Secretary of State for Energy Security and Net Zero as published on 21st February 
2024. Whilst it is noted that the previously published content on the Planning Inspectorate website 
has since been removed for clarification, there remains a very short period within which action can 
be taken should the outcome remain the same. After this meeting there are no further meetings of 
Full Council until 13th May 2024, and he therefore considered it necessary to provide an 
opportunity for the proposed motion to be debated today.  
 
In accordance with Paragraph 2.3 of the Standing Orders, as there are a number of items of 
business on the Agenda and because there are members of the public in attendance to hear the 
debate of Item 15, it was proposed by the Chairman and agreed by Council that this item be 
considered before Item 8 of the Agenda.  
 
 
C31/23 PREVIOUS MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting of 11 December 2023 were confirmed and signed subject to the 
following amendment: 
 
• Councillor Carney pointed out that in the Motion submitted by Councillor Taylor supporting local 

farmers, he had referred to Oxfordshire County Council, not Hertfordshire County Council as 
stated.  

 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



C32/23 CIVIC ENGAGEMENTS UPDATE. 
 

The Chairman drew members’ attention to the civic activities undertaken by himself and the Vice-
Chairman in the weeks preceding Full Council.  
 
C33/23 TO RECEIVE ANY ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNCIL 

AND/OR THE HEAD OF PAID SERVICE. 
 

The Chairman made the following announcement: 
 
“I would like to take this opportunity to recognise the efforts of fellow councillors in assisting their 
constituents during the flooding over the winter months. Particular recognition and thanks go to 
Councillor Taylor and Councillor Marks who have provided very practical, hands-on support which 
has proven invaluable. These Councillors went above and beyond their roles as they worked hard 
to help, and I would like to formally thank and applaud them for the exemplary work they carried 
out”.  
 
C34/23 TO RECEIVE QUESTIONS FROM, AND PROVIDE ANSWERS TO, COUNCILLORS 

IN RELATION TO MATTERS WHICH, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, 
ACCORD WITH THE PROVISIONS OF PROCEDURE RULES 8.4 AND 8.6 
 

There were no questions due to the absence of the Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Gavin 
Booth.  
 
C35/23 TO RECEIVE REPORTS FROM AND ASK QUESTIONS OF CABINET MEMBERS 

WITH PORTFOLIO HOLDER RESPONSIBILITIES, IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
PROCEDURE RULES 8.1 AND 8.2. 
 

Members had no questions of portfolio holders in accordance with Procedure Rules 8.1 and 8.2. 
 
 
C36/23 MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR TIERNEY 

 
Councillor Tierney presented his motion regarding the proposed Medworth Incinerator.  
 
Councillor Tierney commented that the proposal has long been on the cards but almost everyone 
is against it. He commended the local people and groups working to fight against it, which includes 
every council, every political group on those councils, the MP, and the Mayor. The Council should 
do everything in its power to fight this to the end and the last option now is a judicial review. 
However, they are expensive, they need a lot of legal expertise and there has to be a proper 
reason to have a review, it is not a case of additional argument. Councillor Tierney stated that his 
hope is that this motion will be agreed so the Council can get independent legal advice as to 
whether a judicial review is possible; this is something it owes to the people of Fenland, not least 
Wisbech. This will be a fight to the very end and something that could still be won but all must 
stand together on this.  
 
Councillor Hoy seconded the motion, and it was opened for debate. Members made comments as 
follows:  
 
1. Councillor Patrick said that as a member of the WisWin campaign team, he fully supports this 

motion. The costs will be considerable, and the technical report will be expected before other 
councils would consider providing financial support. The head of UKWin has generously offered 
to prepare this; he has worked with WisWin from the outset, is familiar with the Proposal and 
has also submitted several technical reports to the Planning Inspectorate as well as being 
involved in several successful Judicial Reviews. Furthermore, two people who led the 

Page 4



successful King’s Lynn campaign with the judicial review have also offered to provide the 
technical support that FDC needs. An initial review by UKWin has revealed at least 5 potential 
grounds for a Judicial Review: 
• Incorrectly treating the energy that would be exported as low carbon energy. 

• Failure to adequately consider the impact of the Secretary of State’s negative climate 
weighting on the low carbon premise at the heart of the Principle of Development's 
weighting. 

• Errors of fact regarding waste fuel availability and the flawed approach to the non-
combustibility of the 19 12 12 waste code that is currently sent to landfill.  

• Reliance on incorrect assumption that the Boston Alternative Energy Facility could only 
process RDF (Refuse Derived Fuel).  

• Illogical assumption adopted that if waste was landfilled it was not recyclable.  
Councillor Patrick added that WisWin has already received offers of several thousands of 
pounds from UKWin and local businesses and they will be running a GoFundMe campaign as 
many people have already offered support. Furthermore, if this motion is agreed and a 
committee is set up, in the spirit of transparency and to ensure good communication, he would 
wish to be part of this as the link between the Campaign Team and the Council.  

2. Councillor Boden commented that the decision announced last week was the wrong decision at 
the wrong location at the wrong time and made for the wrong reason. Unfortunately, there is no 
right of appeal against the decision so the only way it can be challenged is by means of a 
judicial review. A judicial reveal is not an appeal; it does not look back at the evidence or 
technical arguments and it does not look at any evidence not presented to the Inspector and 
considered by the Secretary of State. It is a judicial process and there are very few grounds 
upon which it can be successful. The most common grounds are procedural irregularity in 
coming to the decision or that the decision is perverse as a result of irrationality in legal terms in 
that no reasonable Secretary of State could come to that decision based on the evidence 
before them. Councillor Boden said that Virginia Bucknor kindly contacted him and Paul Medd, 
Chief Executive, advising that UKWin is willing to provide information and assistance but 
following consultation with officers, he has been told that Council must appoint its own counsel 
to give the required advice to help them to decide whether to proceed with a judicial review and 
cannot subcontract to a third party, especially a pressure group. Having said that, the 
information that UKWin may be able to provide could be invaluable in terms of Council 
instructing counsel and in the decision whether to proceed. He will therefore ask Virgina 
Bucknor to provide as a matter of urgency the detailed arguments mentioned by Councillor 
Patrick in terms of the potential grounds in the opinion of UKWin for which a judicial review can 
be sought. However, Councillor Boden stated that even if a procedural irregularity is found to 
have taken place, it may not mean success; there must have been a procedural failure that 
could have resulted in a different decision that will mean the judicial review is granted. 
Councillor Boden said he is saying this so people are aware of the reality of the situation; it is 
not a chance to fight the campaign again, it is not an appeal but rather an examination of the 
60-page decision notice that was issued to see to what extent any of those failings mentioned 
before may have occurred. The whole reason for this motion and for going to independent 
counsel is that the Council needs specialist knowledge to ensure that it makes the best 
decision possible. It is important that at the earliest stage any possible grounds for a judicial 
review are communicated principally to the Monitoring Officer, Carol Pilson, to be referred to 
counsel. Councillor Boden welcomed the opportunity from UKWin to give such advice and 
would appreciate any other suggestions but emphasised the urgency of time. His 
understanding is that the publication of the notice last week triggered the six-week period by 
which applications for a judicial review must be made. It is a very tight timescale and officers 
have delegation given to them in this motion. Although success is not guaranteed, the Council 
will do its utmost based on the information received from experienced legal counsel; the person 
the Council will approach is a highly respected King’s Counsel, well experienced in large 

Page 5



infrastructure projects that have gone to judicial review, and it will depend on what he says 
before deciding whether to go ahead with a judicial review. Councillor Boden finished by saying 
that if there is any reasonable possibility of getting this wrong decision changed then the 
Council owes it to the people of Fenland to take that opportunity.  

3. Councillor Taylor said as Chairman of the Rural Farming Committee he had requested a full 
toxicology report on the incinerator to protect Wisbech’s fruit and vegetable supplies, which the 
farming community are very concerned about. To date no such report has ever come forward. 
He supports the motion as he is fed up with big companies, whether it involves incinerators, 
reservoirs or housing developments, throwing money around getting deals done before coming 
through this Council. If this Councils says no, it means no. 

4. Councillor Cutler said she supports the motion; she knows that there is liaison with other 
councils but asked if this Council has a figure or percentage in mind to contribute towards the 
costs. 

5. Councillor Sennitt Clough said the incinerator will affect most of Fenland and this is why she 
supports Councillor Tierney’s motion. The people she represents as ward councillor for 
Whittlesey Northwest are concerned about the lorry loads of bottom ash from the incinerator 
being deposited in a pit in Whittlesey. Furthermore, in 2017 an MVV ship from Plymouth 
carrying 2,333 tonnes of unprocessed incinerator bottom ash exploded in the North Sea. As 
Councillor Taylor alluded to, this is another example of Fenland being used as a dumping 
ground for other peoples’ rubbish instead of being regenerated. 

6. Councillor Count said he supports this excellent motion prepared very quickly following the 
unwelcome decision which has gone against the people of Fenland. One of the comments as to 
why a judicial review could be successful would be if the decision is found to be irrational. He 
cannot get his head around the evidence presented, the views of the people here, the views of 
the people at County and other neighbouring authorities, all concluding the same that 
somebody can find a rational reason to be right and everybody else wrong; this cannot be 
rational or right. Councillor Count added that he does not live in Wisbech, so will not see the 
impact of the mega plant on his doorstep but he does use the roads and they are already in a 
terrible state. Farm vehicles are struggling to get about and now the incinerator will see wagon 
after wagon on our roads to deal with what will primarily be Norfolk’s waste. This decision 
makes no sense; he agrees with Councillor Tierney and the Council must fight this all the way. 
He has highlighted this with the Chief Executive of the County Council, who are supportive; 
they provided a lot of evidence to support this Council and he suggested that officers contact 
them so see if they can find anything to put in front of the judicial review as evidence. This is an 
irrational decision, and he is 100% behind the motion.  

7. Councillor Mrs French agreed that the roads cannot take the additional volume of traffic, she 
fully supports this motion and thanked Councillor Tierney for raising it. 

8. Councillor Roy said clearly there is overwhelming support to challenge this decision. Right is 
always right and wrong is always wrong and this is a decision that will affect generations to 
come. A monstrosity of this size should not be put in a prime food growing area and he fully 
supports Councillor Tierney’s motion.  

9. Councillor Wallwork said she is a Wisbech resident and fully supports this motion. She wanted 
residents to understand that the incinerator decision is something that is not just happening to 
them, it is happening to all of us, and members do not want this any more than anyone else. 
She agreed with Councillor Count that this Council must fight this decision and throw everything 
at it; and if there is any moment that the Council has to throw money and effort at it, the time is 
now.  

10. Councillor Hoy said she was both surprised and devastated by the decision, nobody wanted 
this. The Council agenda had already been published but thankfully it was possible to add this 
motion for urgency. The hope of this motion is for officers to explore whether there is a case for 
a judicial review; time is not on the Council’s side; preliminary enquiries have been made and 
this not to pre-empt any decision made today but officers are on notice to start work urgently. 
She urged people to exercise caution over what they put on social media or say publicly so as 
not to jeopardise anything as MPV lawyers will be looking. In response to Councillor Cutler’s 
question about funding, potentially this could mean hundreds of thousands of pounds. Fenland 

Page 6



District Council will have to bear that cost if nobody else steps up to the plate, but she believes 
that it is a fight that must be fought. The Council won its case regarding housing asylum 
seekers at the Rose and Crown and that is a signal to Government that this Council will not roll 
over. She does not want FDC to bear the whole cost but the Combined Authority and County 
Council have said they are against it, so they need to financially contribute along with other 
local authorities. If businesses are also offering financial assistance because of the strength of 
feeling then why would the Council refuse it. Councillor Hoy said councillors live here too, she 
lives nearby and does not want to breathe in toxic fumes.  

11. Councillor Tierney said he was gutted when he heard the decision, but this debate has helped 
a lot. He thanked members of the public for turning up to the meeting saying it was great to see 
so many of them. He stated that the Council could not commit to the amount of money that 
would be required but would need other parties to give as much as they can, but he pledged to 
donate £1k of his own money for crowd funding.  

 
The Motion was approved.  
 
C37/23 MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR DR HAQ NAWAZ 

 
Councillor Nawaz presented his motion regarding Fenland bus services in Fenland.  
 
Councillor Nawaz stated that as seen in the previous motion, this Council puts community at the 
centre of everything and it is the aim of members to try to make things that little bit better and 
easier for its residents. Transport is an integral part of everyday living, so much depends on it and 
for some, public transport is the only means to get anywhere; the most convenient form of public 
transport for many, particularly in this area, being a bus. Unfortunately, the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Combined Authority’s (CPCA) Local Transport and Connectivity Plan (LTCP) does 
not adequately cater for the needs of Fenland residents. Statistics show that Fenland, particularly 
the north, has some of the most deprived wards in Cambridgeshire and the CPCA has let Fenland 
down again. Councillor Seaton has worked very hard with the Transport and Infrastructure 
Committee but Councillor Nawaz himself has attended various meetings and lobbied to highlight 
the deficiencies within that local plan and promises made by the Mayor of the CPCA have not 
transpired. Despite there now being a few more services in the evenings, there is no adequate or, 
in some cases, no services at all at weekends. However, life does not stop at the weekend, and it 
is concerning that the authors of this plan have not considered the needs of the rural communities 
of Fenland that need public transport. He expressed his disappointment that the CPCA does not 
share his concerns despite repeated representations over a considerable period, hence the need 
for this motion.  
 
Councillor Christy seconded the motion, and it was opened for debate. Members made comments 
as follows:  
 
1. Councillor Patrick said he fully supports this motion having watched the level of bus services 

decrease over the years. Villages have been left isolated and he feels that as an area of 
deprivation, Fenland residents are probably going to be funding the cost of providing transport 
for better off areas. This Council must fight to improve services so that people can get to work 
or wherever they need to go, reduce social isolation, and create something that is beneficial for 
everybody within this district.  

2. Councillor Count thanked Councillor Nawaz for bringing forward the motion, providing a chance 
to highlight deficiencies and what is being offered for the people of Fenland at the cost of £36 
for a Band D household. In his view, being told the £36 precept is to improve bus services is 
poppycock firstly because the Mayor failed to get the bus service improvement plan money. He 
is the only Combined Authority Mayor in the country to fail to get that money and if a decent 
plan had been put before Government and the funding received then local people would not 
have been taxed in this way. Secondly, it is supposed to be based on a bus strategy that is 
published and consulted upon, however what was published and consulted upon was a wish 

Page 7



list. Everything possible was named for an all-singing all-dancing bus network but no actual 
plan was put in. This motion exemplifies why Fenland particularly has been let down. Looking 
at any desired consequence that could be delivered with a decent bus strategy through the 
eyes of residents, better health outcomes, better education, economic growth, than Fenland 
deserves it more than most. He did thank the Mayor however because Christchurch is now 
getting two buses, but he is astounded to find that the parish council knew nothing about this, 
and Christchurch residents have not had any input as to whether the planned routes are even 
suitable. Elsewhere, Turves has no public transport whatsoever; it cannot be right to subsidise 
an enhanced route around Cambridge City while whole villages are left with no support at all 
because there was no strategy. Finally, whilst this was the Mayor’s lone decision to have a 
precept, saying this money is to deliver bus services, in the meantime £3.85m has been spent 
on subsidising bus travel for under 25-year-olds. How could he explain to a pensioner with no 
access to public transport but having to pay the precept out of their pension that they are 
subsidising a young person with a good job in the centre of Cambridge so they can go home at 
midnight after a night out. This cannot be justified.   

3. Councillor Carney thanked Councillor Nawaz for the motion and commented that he used to 
drive for Stagecoach, operating out of Ely across Fenland. He left when Stagecoach pulled 
their routes across Cambridgeshire, one of which was highly profitable, but Stagecoach said it 
was not viable. How could it not be viable when it was guaranteed to fill a double decker bus? 
What seems prevalent in this area is that the bus service is disjointed; speaking to residents he 
hears how they cannot get from one area to another easily without having to change buses and 
they highlight exactly what is wrong with public transport in this area. He remembers talk some 
time ago of the CPCA franchising the bus route across Cambridgeshire, which he knows 
happened in London and increased bus usership, he has not heard any further talk of this, but it 
would be good to see the CPCA putting money where its mouth is. 

4. Councillor Cutler said she supports the motion and echoes Councillor Patrick’s comments, 
particularly for the rural villages where there are no buses let alone a limited service.  

5. Councillor Clark said that in his eight years as a Conservative Councillor, bus services were in 
decline partly due to reduced Government support. After the election of a CPCA Conservative 
mayor, which assumed transport responsibilities for the County Council, bus services further 
declined. After the last election, the new Labour mayor, Dr Nik Johnson, found the authority in 
disarray, poorly set up with a high turnover of staff but it has now turned a corner with an 
experienced Chief Executive with much set up to deliver for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. 
The increase in the precept was not the sole decision of the mayor but was democratically 
voted through by the Combined Authority Board. Councillor Clark added that he understands 
that the Fenland member did not vote or speak on this but left the meeting early and was not 
replaced by a substitute. The Mayor said in a press release that following the decision, the 
CPCA could offer more routes, more frequently, and serving more people more conveniently 
than is currently the case.  Councillor Clark suggested that rather than keep playing politics in 
this and previous meetings with the CPCA, perhaps it is time to engage and work with them for 
the benefit of Fenland. Mayor Johnson is likely to be re-elected for a further term from 2025, 
therefore he is unable to support this motion as he would like to see the Council work closer 
with the CPCA for a better outcome for Fenland. 

6. Councillor Hoy said she had to challenge what Councillor Clark said and recalled that he was 
the Leader of this council when the CPCA was being pushed by this Council, and people were 
saying that there would be issues caused by having another layer of government. She does not 
believe that Mayor Johnson will win another term because he has delivered nothing for Fenland 
apart from a couple of buses. Councillor Hoy added that she took exception to party political 
point scoring regarding the fact that members sometimes miss meetings; this can be for good 
reason, often relating to health or other personal matters. 

7. Councillor Tierney said he found Councillor Clark’s remarks concerning the high turnover of 
staff at the CPCA under the previous mayor to be ill-informed.  

8. Councillor Christy stated that he calls on full Council to support this motion, and to lobby the 
CPCA for the services that Fenland needs. He said that FACT Community Transport provides a 
number of bus services for the CPCA, being routes taken over when Stagecoach ceased their 

Page 8



services. Services in Fenland have been rapidly declining due to this, but the problem goes 
back further to the CPCA’s failure to secure any funding during the Bus Service Improvement 
Plan (BSIP) funding rounds in 2022. Councillor Christy added that he believed the CPCA were 
the only combined authority that failed to secure any funding whatsoever. In contrast the North 
East CA secured £163.5m, the West of England CA £105.5m and Greater Manchester CA 
£94.8m. Closer to home, Norfolk County Council was awarded £49.6m and Hertfordshire 
County Council £29.7m. The explanation given for the CPCA getting nothing was their bid was 
not ambitious and lacked innovation. Although in the further rounds the CPCA was awarded 
£2.3m for each of the periods 23/24 and 24/25 under the BSIP+ awards, by context 
Hertfordshire County Council was awarded a further £2.97m BSIP+ funding on top of their 
already awarded £29.7m BSIP funding. Councillor Christy said he wanted to raise attention to 
this for two reasons.  Firstly, as this motion states, Fenland’s LTCP continues to lack ambition 
and innovation, it does not address the needs of residents, and Fenland is not receiving its fair 
share of the available funding from the proposals put forward for the district.  Meanwhile empty 
buses continue to drive across Fenland as the service is not fit for purpose and needs to 
change. This is all at the cost of the taxpayer as operators continue to be paid even if their 
buses are empty. Secondly public transport need is expected to grow as it is increasingly seen 
as a lever to drive social and economic growth. This growth is driven by the younger generation 
of transport user for work and leisure. In Fenland bus services need to grow in quality, 
frequency, and coverage so that this generation can access employment and further 
education.  

9. Councillor Nawaz summed up by addressing the points made by Councillor Clark and said that 
this motion has nothing to do with party politics. On a personal level he has an excellent rapport 
with Mayor Johnson but what matters is what happens to the residents he represents and the 
impact that the policies that he is putting forward. Councillor Nawaz added that did not name 
the Mayor and it was Councillor Clark that brought politics into the debate. The case is 
overwhelming, Councillor Christy and other members have highlighted in detail the issues and 
discrepancies there are. The Mayor has trebled the original precept from £12 to £36 whilst 
reducing bus services hence this Motion.  

 
The Motion was approved.  
 
(Councillors Boden, Christy and Seaton each declared a non-pecuniary interest as trustees of 
Fenland Community Transport (FACT), which provides some bus services within Fenland, with 
Councillor Christy also declaring that he is Chairman of the trustees, and his wife works for FACT, 
but as each can exercise judgement without prejudice, will participate in the debate). 
 
(Councillor Gowler left the meeting at 5.00pm during the discussion on this item and was not 
present for the vote or the remaining agenda items).  
 
(Councillor Kim French left the meeting at 5.20pm following this item). 
 
C38/23 MOTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR TIM TAYLOR 

 
Councillor Taylor presented his motion regarding Bluetongue and Bovine Tuberculosis.  
 
Councillor Taylor added farmers have a tendency not to talk about their mental health and one of 
the reasons for this is that any mention of poor mental health leads to them losing their firearms. 
This needs to stop. Furthermore, when 150 cattle are being slaughtered on one farm without 
having been TB tested, how much of this is going on around the country each year? Councillor 
Taylor commented that even animals being slaughtered for TB are in the human food chain.  
 
Councillor Carney seconded the motion, and it was opened for debate. Members made comments 
as follows:  
 

Page 9



1. Councillor Carney said he knows all too well of the frustration of being able to find a vet who 
can undertake TB testing. Vets qualified to do this are few and far between, but this is 
something any vet should be able to do. Time is not on the farmer’s side and waiting affects 
their livelihood, therefore he supports this motion.  

2. Councillor Tierney thanked Councillor Taylor for an informative and interesting motion. He said 
it is refreshing to have someone at FDC speak out on behalf of the farmers as this is a rural 
community and nobody speaks to be speaking for them and he will be supporting this motion. 

3. Councillor Nawaz said he would be supporting this motion on the grounds that it involves a 
serious zoonotic disease which is transferable to humans and affects most systems of the 
body, needing extensive prolonged treatment. Prevention is better than cure and farmers need 
to be healthy and happy, remember they are producing the food that we all eat. 

4. Councillor Humphrey said that as one of the few members with farming in his blood, albeit 
arable rather than livestock, he fully supports this motion. 

5. Councillor Taylor summed up saying that once an animal has a reactor test to TB, the farm 
immediately has a movement order placed on it and the animal is then slaughtered, for which 
the farmer receives a very small percentage of the animal’s value. This is a national problem, 
but Fenland is only the second council in England believed to have a farming committee and he 
is receiving many calls from other councils to ask if they were to set up a farming committee 
would he take lead through Fenland to advise and work with them and let Fenland spearhead 
the leadership of farming throughout the country. He is already working with a number of 
neighbouring local authorities and some further afield, such as Kent and Northumbria along 
with their MPs. He asked that all bear in mind that everyone needs a farmer at least three times 
a day, seven days a week.   

 
The Motion was approved.  
 
(Councillor Mrs Mayor left the meeting at 5.35pm following this item).   
 
C39/23 BUSINESS PLAN 2024/25 

 
Members considered the Final Business Plan 2024-25 presented by Councillor Boden. 
 
Councillor Boden said it was the hard work of Councillor Tierney and officers that made this year’s 
Business Plan an improvement on last year's version.  
 
Councillor Mrs French expressed her gratitude to Councillor Boden, Councillor Tierney and all the 
officers who put an amazing amount of work into producing the Plan.  
 
Councillor Count offered his congratulations to everybody on an amazing achievement, saying he 
is happy to support the Plan. 
 
Councillor Tierney said he thanked members for their kind comments as always but reiterated it is 
the officers who put in the hard work.    
 
Proposed by Councillor Boden, seconded by Councillor Tierney and AGREED that the 
Business Plan be approved.  
 
C40/23 BUDGET 2024/25 AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2024/25 TO 

2028/29 
 

Members considered the General Fund Budget Estimates 2023/24 and the Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy 2023/24 to 2027/28; and Capital Programme 2023/26 report presented by 
Councillor Boden.  
 
Councillor Nawaz commented that it is pleasing to notice this council is not one of the one in five 
councils expecting to issue Section 114 notices and thanked the officers, Leader and Finance 

Page 10



Portfolio Holder and all members involved in producing this report against so many budgetary 
pressures. He also thanked officers for their very good housekeeping.  
 
Proposed by Councillor Boden, seconded by Councillor Tierney and AGREED that the 
following be approved: 
 

(i) the General Fund revenue budget for 2024/25 as set out in Section 8 and Appendix A 
be approved. 

(ii) the Medium-Term Financial Strategy as outlined in this report and Appendix B be 
adopted. 

(iii) the Capital Programme and funding statement as set out in Appendix D be approved. 

(iv) the adoption of the additional Business Rates Relief measures as detailed in Section 
6 using Discretionary Relief Powers be approved. 

(v) the expenses detailed in Section 11 be approved to be treated as general expenses 
for 2024/25. 

(vi) the Port Health levy for 2024/25 be set as shown in Section 12; 
(vii) the current working age Council Tax Support Scheme be adopted with effect from 1 

April 2024 as set out in Section 14, with appropriate changes to the prescribed 
pensioner scheme as determined by regulations. 

 
(viii) the Long-Term Empty Premium and Second Homes premium be amended as detailed 

in Section 15 as follows: 
(a) to agree to shorten the period that a 100% Council Tax premium on long term 

empty dwellings is payable from the current 2 years (empty) to 1 year from 1 April 
2024.  

(b) to agree to implement the 100% Council Tax premium on all second homes from 1 
April 2025. 

(c) to agree that the classes of properties detailed in paragraph 15.10 do not attract 
the long-term empty premium for the periods specified. 

(ix) the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision, 
Treasury Investment Strategy, Prudential and Treasury Indicators for 2024/25 and 
Capital Strategy 2024/25 as set out in Section 16 and Appendix E be approved. 

(x) the Band D Council Tax level for Fenland District Council Services for 2024/25 be set 
at £254.79, a decrease of 0.18% (£0.45) on the current year. 

 
The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014 
impose an obligation on Local Authorities (after 25 February 2014) to record all votes on 
decisions on budget and council tax, with this in mind Members voted on this item as 
follows: 
 
In Favour: Councillors Barber, Benney, Boden, Carney, Christy, J Clark, S Clark, Connor, 
Count, Cutler, Mrs Davis, Foice-Beard, Mrs French, Hicks, Hoy, Humphrey, Imafidon, 
Meekins, Murphy, Nawaz, Oliver, Patrick, Purser, Rackley, Roy, Seaton, Sennitt Clough, 
Summers, Taylor, Tierney, Wallwork, Woollard 
 
Against: None 
 
Abstentions: None 
 
(Councillor Sennitt Clough declared an interest in this item by virtue of her husband being Class P 
but will remain open minded and will participate in the debate).  
 

Page 11



C41/23 COUNCIL TAX RESOLUTION 2024/25 
 

Members considered the Council Tax Resolution 2024/25 report presented by Councillor Boden. 
 
Councillor Hoy said the level of council tax that other authorities are charging is appalling. That is 
not to say there is not a case for a rise in some instances, but the level levied by the County 
Council and Combined Authority are terrible and will have a massive impact on peoples’ finances. 
Councillor Hoy thanked Councillor Boden saying it is rare and refreshing to have a council leader 
pushing for council tax freezes and cuts.  
 
Councillor Boden thanked Councillor Hoy, saying this is not the Council’s money, it is the money of 
those who elect their councillors and members owe it to them to be as effective and efficient as 
possible. It is lazy politics that so many authorities have the attitude that they can raise council tax 
just because they can.  
 
Proposed by Councillor Boden, seconded by Councillor Hoy and AGREED the resolution 
set out in the report for the Council Tax requirement to be approved. 
 
The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014 impose 
an obligation on Local Authorities (after 25 February 2014) to record all votes on 
decisions on budget and Council Tax, with this in mind Members voted on this item as 
follows: 
 
In favour of the proposal: Councillors Barber, Benney, Boden, Carney, Christy, J Clark, S 
Clark, Connor, Count, Cutler, Mrs Davis, Foice-Beard, Mrs French, Hicks, Hoy, Humphrey, 
Imafidon, Meekins, Murphy, Dr Nawaz, Oliver, Patrick, Purser, Rackley, Roy, Seaton, Sennitt 
Clough, Summers, Taylor, Tierney, Wallwork, Woollard 
 
Against: None 
 
Abstentions: None 
 
C42/23 CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENTS 

 
Members considered the Constitutional Amendment report presented by Councillor Boden. 
 
Proposed by Councillor Boden, seconded by Councillor Mrs Davis and AGREED to make 
the following changes to the Constitution: 
 
1. At Part 3, Table 4, paragraph 71a, to amend the existing wording of the Constitution as 

follows:  
 

To authorise the allocation of external funding awarded to the Council, the approval of 
the Council’s acquisitions of goods, services and works (whether following a 
procurement exercise or otherwise) and entry in to the associated financial and legal 
agreements up to £100,000 in consultation with the relevant portfolio holder and Leader 
of the Council. 

 
2. At Part 3, Table 5, paragraph 10, to amend the existing wording of the Constitution as 

follows: 

To authorise the allocation of external funding awarded to the Council, the approval of 
the Council’s acquisitions of goods, services and works (whether following a 
procurement exercise or otherwise) and entry in to the associated financial and legal 
agreements up to the following limits: 

Page 12



   
Value Designation 
Up to £100,000 Corporate Directors in consultation with the 

relevant Portfolio Holder and Leader of the 
Council. 

Between £100,001 and 
£500,000 

Cabinet Member and Leader of the Council 

Over £500,001  Cabinet 
 

3. At Part 4, Council Procedure Rules, paragraph 28 which relates to Substitutions, the 
addition of a new paragraph 28.7 which states: 

 
“Where Outside Bodies are concerned, the Leader of the relevant political group may 
nominate an alternative attendee where exceptionally, neither the approved substantive 
or substitute members are able to attend a meeting of the relevant Body and provided 
that the Body’s Constitution/Terms of Reference permit that attendance”. 

 
4. Save in so far as a function is delegated to a specific member of the Corporate 

Management Team such as the Chief Executive, s.151 Officer and/or Monitoring Officer, 
for the Constitution to be amended so that ‘Corporate Directors instead reads ‘Corporate 
Directors and Assistant Directors’ with the associated delegations then equally applying 
to them. 

 
5. For Part 7 of the Constitution, Management Structure to be amended in accordance with 

the proposals set out at Appendix 1. 
 

6. At Part 3 Responsibilities for Functions, 3.3 Executive Advisory Committees, 3.3.3 
RURAL & FARMING EXECUTIVE ADVISORY COMMITTEE to add to the terms of 
reference to include: 

 
• Reflect upon flooding issues affecting the District. 

 
C43/23 SENIOR MANAGER PAY POLICY STATEMENT 

 
Members considered the Senior Manager Pay Policy report presented by Councillor Boden. 
 
Proposed by Councillor Boden, seconded by Councillor Tierney and AGREED to adopt the 
Senior Management Pay Policy Statement for 2024/253 at Appendix 1 as required by the 
Localism Act 2011. 
 
 
 
 
6.08 pm                     Chairman 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

e 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Cabinet and 
Corporate Management Team 

 
 
 
 

Portfolio Holder Briefing Report 
 
 
 
 

May 2024 
(For performance in January, February 

and March 2024) 
 

 
 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 9



2 

 

Cabinet Members 
 

  

 

  

  
Cllr Chris Boden 

Leader of the Council 
& Portfolio Holder for 

Finance 
  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Cllr Ian Benney 
Portfolio Holder for 

Economic Growth & Skills 
 

Cllr Jan French 
Deputy Leader of the 

Council, Portfolio Holder 
for Revenues & Benefits 

and Civil Parking 
Enforcement 

 
Cllr Sam Hoy 

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing & Licensing 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 Cllr Dee Laws 
Portfolio Holder for 

Planning & Flooding 
 

Cllr Alex Miscandlon 
Portfolio Holder for 
Leisure & Internal 
Drainage Boards 

 
Cllr Peter Murphy 
Portfolio Holder for 

Refuse & Cleansing, 
Parks &Open Spaces 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Cllr Chris Seaton 
Portfolio Holder for 

Transport, Heritage & 
Culture 

 

Cllr Steve Tierney 
Portfolio Holder for 
Communications, 

Transformation, Climate 
Change & Strategic 

Refuse 

 

Cllr Susan Wallwork 
Portfolio Holder for 
Community, Health, 

Environmental Health, 
CCTV, Community 
Safety & Military 

Covenant 

Page 16



 

3 

 

Communities 
 
Projects from Business Plan: 
 

 
Support Vulnerable Members of Our Community  
 
 
ARP updates (Cllr French)  
Business Rates Collection is on target, as is Council Tax Collection. Days taken to process 
Local Council Tax Support and Housing Benefit also remain on target. 
 
ARP are working to identify and prevent fraud leading to an increase in Council Tax income in 
the following areas: 
 

• Local Council Tax Support  
• Single Person Discount 
• Council Tax  
• Non-Domestic Rates  

  
The ongoing review of newly awarded Single Person Discounts continues to provide positive 
outcomes. The ARP team are working with the largest Social Housing provider in the Authority 
to tackle Right to Buy and subletting abuse.  
 
The team continue to seek opportunities to identify dwellings and businesses not registered or 
having had an undeclared change in use, leading to increased charges, including possible 
retrospective charges.  
 
The Cambridgeshire Fraud Hub, East Cambridgeshire and Fenland District Council is 
operational, aligning with the Fraud and Compliance work carried out for other partners of the 
Anglia Revenues Partnership. This work has again consistently seen savings outweighing the 
costs of the work in the areas of Local Council Tax Reduction and Single Person Discounts 
particularly, over several years. 
 
 
Homelessness and meeting housing needs (Cllr Hoy) 
In 2023/24 the Housing Options team has successfully addressed the housing issues for 257 
households where we assessed they were owed a duty to either remain in their own home or 
found alternative accommodation within either a 56 day prevention period or 56 day relief 
period. This is broken down to 142 at the prevention stage and 115 at the relief stage. 
 
Prevention means the household has accommodation but are threatened with homelessness 
and relief means they have left that accommodation therefore there is a need to source some 
alternative accommodation. 
 
The number of households seeking advice (homeless presentations) for this period was 2201. 
This is up 7.3% from last year’s figure of 2051. 
 
The number of households requiring housing advice continues to rise as the cost-of-living 

Page 17



 

4 

 

crisis continues and fixed rate mortgage periods come to an end. 
 
Housing advice has been given to 1143 households where no duties were owed by the 
Council. This means that following assessment and interventions there was no need to issue a 
formal homeless decision. 
 
The legislative outcome desired is to get as many households issues resolved in Prevention 
as the best outcome, Relief as the second best outcome and working to reduce the number 
prior of main duty decisions (main duty decisions means that the Council could not resolve the 
housing issues presented by the household in either the prevention period nor the relief period 
and we have a legal duty to accommodate). The more this can be achieved means for 
households presenting to the Council we are helping to sort out the worry and uncertainty for 
households as quickly as possible and have them back in secure and suitable 
accommodation. 
 
In total during 2023/24, we owed 250 households under prevention duties and 324 households 
under relief duties with 119 households being owed a main housing duty.  
 
In 2022/23 we owed 182 households under prevention duties and 341 households under relief 
duties with 138 households owed a main duty. 
 
Therefore, this represents an increase of 37.4% in the amount of prevention duties owed 
between 2022/23 and 2023/24.  
 
This context is important as it not only demonstrates our commitment to preventative work and 
that we are keeping people in their home but that we are able to get involved in a household’s 
homelessness situation early. Our prevention success rate in 2023/24 was 57% (the number 
of prevention duties owed (250) by the number of households prevented at this stage (142)). 
 
For the forthcoming year we will try and bring this successful prevention work into resolving 
more households’ issues at the relief stage. In 2023/24 we owed 324 relief duties with 
resolution found in 115 households’ cases with a success rate of 35%.  
 
This had a significant impact on the overall reported performance indicator metric which is; 
 
The proportion of households presenting to the Council as homeless whose housing 
circumstances were resolved through Housing Options work for the year = 45% (257 
preventions divided by 574 households where duties were owed). 
 
This is 12% under the target of 57% with the following mitigating actions to improve 
performance for the forthcoming year: 

• New community support officer recruited to provide management and support for 
existing and new temporary accommodation residents which frees up Housing Options 
officer’s time to resolve homeless presentations earlier through each household’s 
personal housing plan 

• Increase in temporary accommodation through Local Authority Housing Fund and 
leased properties from Clarion  

• Improvement in void performance by Registered Providers which has been affected by 
work necessary because of learning from the Awaab Ishak review outcome (damp and 

Page 18



 

5 

 

mould) 
• Increase in new build affordable housing being completed (see affordable housing 

section) 
• Transformation to review Housing Options service which will hopefully enable further 

efficiency and release capacity. 
 
In 2023/24, we have successfully rehoused 75 households within the private sector and shows 
the importance of how that sector can assist the Council in meeting its homelessness 
responsibilities. This continues to be a challenge with many landlords selling due to economic 
conditions thereby decreasing the pool of properties available. The market is also highly 
competitive. 
 
Positive steps are being taken to reduce the length of time households are placed in 
emergency interim accommodation, for example B&B. Such accommodation is costly for the 
Council to provide but is also detrimental for the households affected trying to get on with 
normal day to day living. 
 
 Number of 

households placed in 
B&B who left during 
this period 

Number of nights in 
B&B  

Average length of 
stay (nights) 

2022/23 249 10,308 nights 41 
2023/34 297  9,964 nights 34 

 
The table shows that between 2022/23 and 2023/24, despite 48 more households placed in 
B&B (due to increased demand for services), the number of nights commissioned from B&B 
establishments reduced by 344 nights and the average length of stay reduced from 41 days to 
34 days. 
 
This is due to:  

• an increase in temporary accommodation (TA) commissioned through Clarion (a further 
6 properties commissioned June 2023) 

• In the last 3 months of this financial year Temporary Accommodation provided through 
the Local Authority Housing Fund (LAHF), coming on stream. 

• Increase in relets from existing affordable rented housing. 
• Increase in new supply of affordable housing. 

 
It is expected with further LAHF properties being purchased by the end of August 2024 
bringing a total number of LAHF properties by that time to 33, with new affordable housing 
being completed and continued reduction in time to relet existing affordable housing, this 
reduction in length of stay in B&B will continue this financial year. This delivers better 
outcomes for the households affected and also at a reduced financial cost to the Council. 
 
 
Reducing Rough Sleeping (Cllr Hoy)  
The Rough Sleeper Initiative (RSI) 5 Project supported a total of 27 clients from January to 
end of March 2024.  
 
Of the 27 clients, 6 were placed in off the street accommodation, 3 were sofa surfing and the 

Page 19



 

6 

 

remaining 18 were rough sleeping during this period. However, with support from the RSI 
programme we successfully moved 13 clients on in to settled accommodation, which includes 
supported living routes, into the private rented sector or reconnected with family and friends. A 
total of 8 clients had alternative outcomes such as custody, hospital or lost contact with 
services. The remaining 6 clients continue to be supported to find secure accommodation and 
move off the streets. For the total 27 clients that were supported during this period, 5 had 
restricted eligibility, 1 had unknown eligibility and the remaining 21 were eligible.  
 
To summarise the end of year (April 2023 to March 2024) the RSI project has supported a 
total of 84 clients and of these, 45 have had a positive move on in to settled accommodation. 
A recent highlight of the success to create spaces to allow clients to move off the street is the 
Prevention and Move On Fund (P&MO) which was granted by DLUHC. A total of 21 clients 
have been supported under this funding as of March 2024. The breakdown of these 
interventions is below:  
 
Prevention & Move On (P&MO) Fund:  
 

• 8x Under intervention 1 (Moving On Fund)  
• 1x Under intervention 2 (Deposits)  
• 3x Under intervention 3 (Decompression for Rough Sleepers in work)  
• 2x Under intervention 4 (Arrears)  
• 5x Under intervention 5 (Flexible prevention fund).  This has supported with matters 

such as fast tracking a passport for a client to be able to work, transport for re-
connection to another area, as well as clearing a property for an extremely vulnerable 
client.  

• 2x Under intervention 6 (Extended Support)  
 
Alongside the support for those rough sleeping in Fenland, the other main focus for RSI is 
tenancy sustainment and homeless prevention. Since April 2023 to March 2024, the RSI 
project have supported 54 clients with tenancy sustainment and have also completed 54 
homeless preventions.  
 
 
Golden Age & Supporting older people (Cllr Wallwork) 
This year, Golden Age hit a remarkable milestone – 20 years of serving our communities. To 
celebrate, an event was held in the Council Chamber in November 2023 with the Golden Age 
team, including Cllr Meekins, Cllr Barber, Cllr Jan French, Cllr Sam Clark, Cllr Susan 
Wallwork, Cllr Kay Mayor and Cllr Anne Hay. This special occasion wasn’t just about cake and 
congratulations, though. We also welcomed back past members, who shared heartwarming 
stories of their experiences with Golden Age and reminded us of the lasting impact Golden 
Age has made on countless lives.  
 
Over the past year, our Golden Age Fairs have brought valuable resources to communities 
across Fenland, holding fairs at the Manor Leisure Centre in Whittlesey, in Christchurch 
(where our first ever event was held in 2003), Wimblington Parish Hall, the Braza Club in 
March for our Christmas celebration and finally Parson Drove in February 2024.  
 
During the summer heat, we encouraged everyone to stay hydrated with handy Golden Age 
water bottles. As winter approached, we prioritised warmth with the “Stay Warm” campaign, 

Page 20



 

7 

 

partnering with Peterborough Environment City Trust (PECT) and Citizens Advice Rural 
Cambs to distribute winter warmer packs. These packs, filled with cozy blankets, hot water 
bottles, hats gloves, scarves and thermal flasks were met with resounding positive feedback 
from attendees. 
 
In total, throughout the year, we have had over 500 visitors attend the events this year with 35 
different organisations supporting the events including; 
 
CPFT, Oddballs, Armed Forces Covenant Officer, CCC Communities Service Team, 
Cambridgeshire Libraries, PECT, Careline, March Model Railway Club, Dementia Carer 
Support Service, Octavius, The Bobby Scheme, CamSight, Parkinsons Support Group, Royal 
Air Force Benevolent Fund, Fenland Volunteer Centre, Lyncroft Care Home, College of West 
Anglia, Citizens Advice Bureau, Anglian Water, Active Fenland, Victoria Lodge, FACT , Clarion 
Housing, East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust, Age UK, How are You? Fenland, 
Fitness Rush, Caring Together, Breathe Easy, Neighbourhood Watch, Versus Arthritis, Care 
Network, Women’s Institute, Fraud and Cyber Prevent, Healthy You, Royal British Legion, 
Cambs Fire and Rescue, Country Court Care Home and Hereward Rail Partnership. 
 
After two decades, we are still committed to connecting older adults with the information 
support and resources they need to thrive. We’re already planning exciting events for 2024 
which will be found in the coming month on our website www.fenland.gov.uk/goldenage 
 
 
Housing Enforcement Policy & Empty Homes (Cllr Hoy)  
 
April 2023 – March 31st 2024 
 
Town HMOs investigated Other Homes investigated 
Wisbech 58 101 
March 12 43 
Chatteris 3 10 
Whittlesey 9 12 
Villages 4 42 

 
Total homes investigated is 294. 
 
VILLAGE BREAKDOWN  
 
Benwick = 0 
Coates = 3 
Coldham = 0 
Christchurch = 3 
Doddington = 3 
Eastrea = 0 
Elm = 3 
Fridaybridge = 3 
Foul Anchor = 0 
Gorefield =2 
Guyhirn = 4 

Page 21

http://www.fenland.gov.uk/goldenage


 

8 

 

Leverington = 9 
Manea = 6 
Murrow = 1 
Newton = 2 
Parson Drove = 2 
Stonea = 0 
Throckenholt = 0 
Thorney Toll = 0 
Tydd = 3 
Turves = 0 
Wimblington = 0 
Wisbech St Mary = 2 
 
No.s of 
Notices 
Served 
April -
December 
31st 2023 

S.11 
Improvement 
Notice * 

S.12 
Improvement 
Notice ** 

Notice of  
Intent *** 

Final 
Civil 
Penalty 
Notice 
**** 

EICR 

*****  

MEES 

****** 

EPC 

******* 

April   1 1         

May         1 2   

June 3 4   1     1 

July     6 1     1 

August 1 1           

September 4 4   1   1   

October 1 1     1 1   

November 1 1     2   3 

December 2 2           

January        

February    6 2 2  

March        

Total 12 14 7 9 6 6 5 

 
* Notices served in relation to Category 1 (serious) hazards identified during inspection 
**Notices served in relation to Category 2 hazards identified during inspection 
***Notice issuing intent to serve a civil penalty fine due to a breach of legislation & can be 
reviewed by Assistant Director upon appeal if a request is submitted by the landlord.  
****Final Civil Penalty fine issued after review by Assistant Director- (landlord can only make a 

Page 22



 

9 

 

further appeal to the First Tier Tribunal) 
***** EICR- Requirement for Landlord to comply with Electrical Installation Regulations- Final 
Number of fines issued after internal review  
****** MEES- Requirement for Landlord to comply with Minimum Energy Performance 
Regulations- Final Number of fines issued after internal review  
******* EPC- Requirement for Landlord to comply with Energy Performance Certification 
Regulations- Number of fines issued after internal review 
 
In summary, since the new approach to enforcement was implemented in September 2019, 
out of the 111 Improvement Notices served: 

• 78 have been paid in full.  
• The remaining debts will continue to be registered as a formal Land Charge on the title 

deeds until they are paid, or the property is sold, at which stage the debt will be 
recovered as a 1st charge. 
 

Of the 75 Civil Penalty Notices served: 
• 38 have been paid in full,  
• 7 are subject to payment arrangements,  
• 2 are subject to formal court action,  
• 3 are with the High Court Bailiff,  
• 3 are proposed to be written off as not recoverable  
• 9 have been revoked 
• 13 are subject to an ongoing appeal. 

 
All fines from the EPC breaches have been paid. 
 
 
Empty Homes 
 
Table 1 
Represents the total number of properties brought back into use through officer involvement 
from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024. 

 
Table 2 
Represents the number of properties brought back into use for the New Homes bonus. 

 
 

 Long Term Empty (LTE) 6-
23mths 

Long Term Empty 
Premium (LTEP) 24MTHS+ 

Total Officer 
Involvement 

71 14 

Total for period 1.4.23 – 31.3.24 85 

 LTE 6-23MTHS LTEP 24MTHS+ 
Total Officer 
Involvement 

28 9 

Total for 
period 

3.10.23 – 7.10.24 37 

 
 

Page 23



 

10 

 

 
Promote Health & Wellbeing for all  
 
 
Leisure & Freedom Updates (Cllr Miscandlon) 
Total site visits for 2023/24 exceeded 500,000 across the 4 centres and membership within 
Fenland remains stable across the board despite the economic pressure being faced by the 
customer base. Freedom’s continued drive for efficiency and energy saving measures, 
coupled with the fall in wholesale energy prices has improved the financial outlook for 
2024/25. 
 
Works continues at the George Campbell Leisure Centre in March has seen the refurbishment 
of the gym’s male and female changing rooms, the installation of a DLUHC grant funded 
changing places toilet and will see the completion reception alterations in early May. 
 
The George Campbell has also had pool filters replace recently, necessitating a 2-week pool 
closure.  Unfortunately, shortly after that was complete a pool pump failed and then a chlorine 
dosing system also failed.  Both meaning further, short term closures.  
 
February Membership Joiners 
 

 
*GCLC has seen internal works and pool closures as detailed and a change of centre 
manager, leading to a more difficult period in terms of sales and retention. 
 
Investment via the capital program and successful grant funding (swimming pool support fund) 
will see a large number of projects delivered over the next few months, including pool lighting 
upgrades to LED, solar capacity additions, destratification fans to pool halls, CHP (combined 
heat and power unit) replacement at Manor Leisure Centre, replacement pool boilers at 
George Campbell and building management systems panel upgrades. The combination of 
these works, when completed, will significantly reduce energy usage and costs across the 
three swimming pool facilities.   
 
Alliance Leisure has been commissioned to undertake a strategic facility assessment of the 
three large leisure centres. Further, significant, condition survey works are required in the 
shorter term.  This assessment will consider the three facilities, condition survey works and 
other options to ensure that the facilities are fit for the next 20 years. A report is due in May 
2024. 
 
 
Active Fenland (Cllr Miscandlon) 
The Active Fenland team of three grant funded co-ordinators and a part-time manager 
continue to deliver projects throughout Fenland designed to encourage people to be more 
active to support their health.  A detailed programme of activities may be found here. 
 

Page 24

https://www.fenland.gov.uk/media/19982/Spring-Timetable-2024/pdf/Active_Fenland_Spring_Timetable_2024_-_Website.pdf?m=1713956001533


 

11 

 

The Football Foundation is to deliver a number of PlayZones across the country in the next 18 
months.  Fenland has been selected as a District that needs this sort of provision.  The 
Council has passed Stage 1 of a process, with Stage 2 now offering funding to carry out work 
within the community to determine what sort of facility, in what location might be appropriate , 
should the Council proceed to a full application later in the year. 
 
 
Health & Wellbeing Update (Cllr Wallwork)  
 
Early Help Hub Update 
The North Place partnership board has been created to help deliver the expectations from the 
new Integrated Care System (ICS) legislation.  
 
Historically Fenland District Council has been keen to get into the space of the health service 
system to make them aware of the wide range of services that we have responsibility for that 
can both help reduce demand for NHS services and deliver better outcomes for residents 
(wider determinants of health) and reduce pressure on our services.  
 
As well as this, NHS services can become aware of emerging issues that FDC need to hear 
about with the Council often getting involved when it has escalated and requires a higher cost 
intervention from ourselves. Key examples would be Homeless, House condition and 
Environmental health duties and responsibilities.  
 
What is of great concern to Councils is the need to manage increasing demand for services 
within a reducing budget determination from Government.  System integration to resolving 
household issues is seen as key to that.  Evidence from South Norfolk has shown that having 
a triage process that has the “offer” of the wider public sector & available VCS system rather 
than siloed individual organisations struggling to get a collaborative response, helps deliver 
better outcomes for residents / households earlier. 
  
Once triaged, the resident gets referred to services in a much more efficient and collaborative 
way to deliver better outcomes and at lower cost, often through the VCS sector. The VCS 
often feel frustrated at being the “poor relation” to the public sector, so having the sector as 
part of the same triage process supports increasing their impact in the community to assist 
their bids for funding. 
 
Public health has given funding to the North Place Partnership board to develop a pilot 
approach across the district of Fenland. The funding has a remit on employment and skills so 
initially will focus on encouraging residents receiving Universal Credit with health issues to get 
closer to and back into work. The other initial focus is residents in work but sick, and what 
support can be offered to the fit note process within a GP practice. However, the aspiration is 
that this virtual hub will become generic for all issues as the pilot progresses and if future 
additional funding can be secured.  
 
The North Place Partnership updated Overview & Scrutiny on this project at their March 2024 
meeting. 
 
Health partners have recognised their structure for managing a Fenland district wide project is 
fragmented with 3 integrated neighbourhoods (IN), Wisbech, South Fenland and Whittlesey 
being part of the Peterborough IN. The public sector structure that best fits the geography of 

Page 25

https://footballfoundation.org.uk/playzones-programme


 

12 

 

such a virtual hub is FDC. The proposed system to be developed is set out on the diagram 
below. 

 
 
FDC have costed undertaking the triage work to receive over £100,000 (costs being finalised) 
of funding to help support delivery of the project at no additional cost to the Council.  The work 
of the hub will assist in demand management for our statutory services, homelessness, 
environmental health, benefits and house condition prevention, intervention and management. 
As well as this, non statutory services like Economic development growth plan and the Golden 
Age programme can be utilised to improve impact of work that falls out of the one team 
collaboration across the public sector and VCS. 
  
Next steps 

• Mobilisation of the project, looking to a start date of June 2024 with the pilot to work for 
a year initially. 

• Updates on the mobilisation work underway to future Full Council updates. 
• Tracking the impact of the work to help secure further funding. 

 
 
 

 
Work with partners to promote Fenland through Culture & Heritage  
 
 
Delivering the Creativity & Culture Strategy (Cllr Seaton)  
 
Fenland Culture Fund: 
19 applicants were successful with grants of up to £2000 each as part of the Fenland Culture 
Fund, funded by Arts Council England and the UK Shared Prosperity Fund. With a combined 
value of more than £34,000, some of those funded projects and activities have started to take 
place.  
  

Page 26



 

13 

 

Local photographer Andy Gutteridge received a grant to support his documentary photography 
exhibition, 'The Life and Soul of the Straw Bear', which celebrated the volunteers who strive to 
maintain the tradition of the Straw Bear Festival in Whittlesey. 
The annual event, which has close ties with the local community and its history, was revived in 
1980 but dates back to at least the mid-19th Century.  

Andy's exhibition opened at the start of this year's three-day festival last month. It documented 
the preparations leading up to the festival and brought to the fore the efforts of those who give 
up their time to ensure the event continues to inspire and captivate people from all over the 
world. 

Thorney resident Andy, who was born in Whittlesey and has been a photographer for over 20 
years, said: "Although I'm probably better known for my sports photography, I have been 
developing documentary photography projects for a few years now. When the grant 
application opportunity was announced by the council, it became obvious that this project 
output dovetailed with the aims and objectives of the Fenland Cultural Strategy, and I was 
delighted the panel decided to make the award in support of this project." 
 

 
  
Express Yourself: 
The Integrated Care System funded project ‘Express Yourself’ supports children and young 
people’s health and wellbeing through positively engaging with arts and cultural activity based 
on the NHS 5 Ways to Wellbeing.  
It is now in delivery and being administered by 20Twenty Productions. With their subject 
expertise, they are a Fenland based Arts Council England National Portfolio Organisation. 
20Twenty Productions were ideally placed to administer this project because they work with 
many young people and schools already and they understand very well some of the 
challenges that young people are facing today. 85 young people aged 8-15 have signed up for 
the first phase. 9 artists and professionals are delivering the sessions, they have been 
supported with training to further their own skills and development. 

Page 27



 

14 

 

 
 
Working with partners to promote Fenland through Culture & Heritage (Cllr Seaton) 
The Fenland Poet Laureate Award closed for entries at the end of January. Shortlisting was 
completed by members of the FDC Culture, Arts and Heritage Executive Advisory Committee 
and finalists were selected by award-winning poet and CAH committee Chair, Cllr Elisabeth 
Sennitt Clough, and the 2022/23 Fenland Poet Laureate, Qu Gao. 
  
This year's Fenland Poet Laureate Awards saw a total of 63 eligible entries - with 28 adult 
entries and 35 in the Young Fenland Poet Laureate category, 
open to those aged 17 and under. An awards ceremony was 
held at March Town Hall on Friday 15 March, when 
shortlisted and finalist poets had the opportunity to read their 
poems and received their anthologies and trophies.  
  
Hannah Teasdale, who has recently published her third 
poetry collection 'Indelicate Sundays' and runs poetry 
workshops at local schools, won the appointment with her 
poem, 'The Un-Coupling', inspired by her winter sightings of 
migrated swans to the fields of Fenland. 
 
  
Lacey Vinn, a student from Sir Harry Smith Community College 
in Whittlesey impressed judges with her poem, 'Christmas 
Truce', inspired by a Christmas Day football match from World 
War One.  
  
His Majesty's Deputy Lieutenant of Cambridgeshire, Dan 
Schumann, who was among the guests at the evening, said the 
creativity and talent shown on the night was "truly remarkable". 
 
  
Supporting groups to hold public events (Cllr Murphy) 
We are pleased to have now successfully introduced an online booking system for events. 
This enabled 125 bookings to be accepted digitally with the first 10 days of opening, 
equivalent to 60 hours of administration.  We have also selected event caterers following a 
local tender, after 38 companies bid for 5 events. We were pleased to see lots of variety and 
local companies benefiting from the Four Seasons events. 
 
St George’s Fayre has received £14,000 of support from Creative People and Places Market 
Place in the form of staff time and resources.  This has enabled March Events Committee to 

Page 28



 

15 

 

expand the arts and cultural offering at this year’s event.  Grant funding from Fenland Culture 
Fund (£2000) and Cambridgeshire Community Foundation (£2000) has also enabled 
20Twenty Productions who are a member of the St George’s arts working group, to 
commission Mandinga Arts an organisation specialising in carnival puppetry, like that seen at 
the Notting Hill Carnival, to come to Fenland and work with Neale Wade Students to develop 
their skills to create head dresses for the parade.  Funding secured by Fenland Arts has also 
been used for community groups to create screen printed banners for the parade with local 
artist Ricki Outis. 
 
There are Dragons popping up in shop windows this week as we lead up to the 21st April 
Fayre; courtesy of professional artist Cary Outis funded by March Events Committee. 
Headline acts this year will include a fire breathing orc and a community parade at 11:30am.  
Around 5,000 visitors can expect to see a packed entertainment programme on both the main 
stage and bandstand, over 100 stalls, street food, amusements, fun fair and indoor craft fayre.  
The event continues to bring significant benefit to the local economy. 
 
 
Pride In Fenland Awards (Cllr Wallwork) 
The Pride In Fenland Awards took place on Wednesday 13th March 2024 at Wisbech St Mary 
Community and Sports Centre with a record 117 nominations for 79 incredible groups and 
individuals who do wonderful things in our community.  
 
All the nominees were invited to the awards ceremony where there were certificates for all and 
trophies for winners and runners up in the individual, group and young person categories and 
winners in the special judges, environmental and lifetime achievement award.  
 
It was great to see young and old alike thrive on supporting their communities and those less 
fortunate and children who are brave, loyal and determined to make a difference. 
 
 
5 Market Place Wisbech – Fire Damaged Building (Cllrs Laws & Seaton) 
As with any damaged listed building, the process of excising the damaged material to 
preserve element of the building for redevelopment is a delicate matter. The original proposal 
was subject to a firm objection from Historic England as it was not clear what was salvageable 
and what impact the demolition works would have on the structural integrity of the attached 
flanking buildings.  
 
The retention of the façade was prioritised owing to it being a particularly original façade that 
was deemed salvageable by the applicants own structural report as well Historic England’s 
engineer. 
 
Phase two should be underway shortly (the middle section of the building) after which the 
applicants will need submit a method statement for the final front phase. As it stands there is 
no certainty as to the condition of areas which have not been revealed for inspection. 
 
While the scaffolding at the site has an impact on other nearby buildings this is not within the 
control of the Planning Team. The fire occurred in April 2022 and the Listed Building 
Application in relation to demolition was not submitted until April 2023. Due to the inadequate 
initial submissions and additional information required to satisfy consultees the approval was 
issued in September 2023. The Planning Team have progressed this matter in a sustainable 

Page 29



 

16 

 

and proactive manner designed to lead to a consent.   
 

Page 30



 

17 

 

 
Key PIs: 
 
Key PI Description Baseline Target 

2023/24 
Cumulative 

Performance 
Variance 

(RAG) 
ARP1 Days taken: new claims and changes for Council Tax Support  6.48 days 9.00 days 9.31  
ARP2 Days taken: new claims and changes for Housing Benefit 5.29 days 8.00 days 7.45  
CELP1 Total number of private rented homes where positive action has been 

taken to address safety issues 
246 250 294  

CELP2 The proportion (%) of households presenting to the Council as 
homeless whose housing circumstances were resolved through 
Housing options work (%)  

53% 57% 45  

CELP3 Number of empty properties brought back into use 81 50 85  
CELP4 Amount of New Homes Bonus achieved as a result of bringing empty 

homes back into use 
£98,395 £45,000 N/A  

(March 2024) 
N/A 

CELP6 Number of Active Health sessions per year that improve community 
health 

513 650 605  

CELP19 Satisfaction with our leisure centres (Net Promoter Score) 29 30 47  
CELP20 Value of Arts Council Grants achieved in Fenland £43,000 £201,000 £199,000  
 
 
Key: 
 Within 5% of target 
 5-10% below target 
 10% or more below target 
 
Comments CELP 2 – see update in Homelessness section. 
 
 

P
age 31



 

18 

 

Environment 
 
Projects from Business Plan: 
 

 
Deliver a high performing refuse, recycling and street cleansing service  

 
 
Diverting waste from landfill (Cllr Murphy) 
The provisional waste figures for the first 11 months of this financial year demonstrate a 
continuation of the changes that we observed in previous reports based on the impact of the 
cost of living.  
 
The teams have already collected a total of almost 37,000 tonnes of domestic and commercial 
waste from our customers up to the end of February. Within this total, the Residual Waste 
(green bin waste) has reduced by 2.8% (609 tonnes) and blue bin recycling waste collected 
has reduced by around 4.3% (350 tonnes).  However, the weather has resulted in an increase 
in garden waste collected of 18.7% (1,503 tonnes).   
  

Collected Waste Tonnages  
To Feb 

2023  
To Feb 

2024   % Change  
Overall tonnage  36,720 36,964 <1.0% 
Residual Tonnage (green bins) 22,145 21,536 -2.8% 
Dry Recycling Tonnage Actual (blue bins) 8,142 7,792 -4.3% 
Compost Tonnage Actual (brown bins) 6,433 7,636 +18.7% 
Dry Recycling & Compost Tonnage Total (blue and brown bins) 14,575 15,428 +5.9% 

        
Collected Waste –   
Percentage Recycling (blue bins to green bins)   26.9%  26.6%    
Percentage Recycling (blue and brown bins to green bins)  39.7%  41.7%    
  
The economic pressure on our customers is being seen in the 
reduced amount of green and blue bin waste being produced.  
 
These reduced levels of recycling, along with significant 
changes in the values of the recycling material markets has 
seen a change in the income achieved from recycling 
compared to the highs of previous years.  
 
In the first 11 months of this financial year, we achieved a net 
income of £292,768 from the materials presented, which is 
£144,175 less than the same period last year. This is because 
a tonne of Fenland’s recycling was worth £72 in December 
2022, down from £130 in August 2022, and is now worth closer 
to £50. The 50% profit share within the contract has been 
impacted by this change in the value of the materials.  
  
We will continue to support our customers to maximise their recycling efforts and continue to 
treat their waste as a resource, but the economic situation is having an impact across the 

Page 32



 

19 

 

recycling resource chain and reducing income from the materials collected. 
 
To protect the quality of recycling materials collected, the team have rejected 7,184 blue bins 
so far this year. Each of these customers is written to with information about how to get their 
recycling correct. Alongside this, through inspections 4,796 properties received information 
directly from supervisors encouraging best use of recycling bins. Of these 4,796 bins 
inspected, 5% contained incorrect materials (227). During March all 45,500 properties 
received the summer calendar again in early March, along with a flier in council tax bills, all 
contain recycling messages to encourage improved recycling behaviours.   
 
Garden Waste Collection (Cllr Murphy)  
Last year there were a total of 24,212 subscriptions, with 78% direct debits, which generated 
an income of £985,000 to cover the costs of providing the garden waste service to those who 
have chosen to make use of it. To date this year we have 22,006 subscriptions, with 91% 
direct debits at present and a total of £991,900 of income so far.  
 
Garden Waste Subscriptions 2017-2024  
 

 
 
Last summer produced significantly more garden waste than the previous year’s dry summer 
and the team have collected more than 7,600 tonnes of garden waste in the past year. This 
material is sent to be composted locally.   
 
Delivering clean streets and public spaces (Cllr Murphy)  
The cleansing team works 7 days a week, 364 days a year to keep Fenland’s streets and 
public open spaces clean.   
  
During the past financial year, the team responded to 2,006 requests from the public to deal 
with fly-tipping, graffiti, street cleansing or similar requests. Of these, 93% (1,874) were 
actioned the same or next day.  

Page 33



 

20 

 

 
The development, increased kilometres of kerbs requiring sweeping, the weather and the 
amount of building work taking place in some of the Fenland towns is placing an increased 
pressure on the available HGV mechanical street sweeping resource and they have struggled 
to meet their usual sweeping schedules this year. Many schedules have had to move out to 8 
or 10 weeks.  
  
The scheduled cleansing and rapid response service, with support from Fenland’s active local 
volunteers, including Street Pride groups, deliver clean streets and public open spaces in 
Fenland. The standard of cleanliness is monitored by Street Scene officers using Keep Britain 
Tidy surveying methodology across a range of land use types and all wards. In the past year 
officers have completed 1,166 surveys for litter and street sweeping and found 1,131 to be of a 
suitable standard (97%). 
 
 
Deliver a competitive trade waste service (Cllr Murphy)  
Fenland has 590 commercial waste customers, including 25 who make use of the commercial 
food waste service. The team have collected more than 1,020 tonnes of waste from these 
customers, of which 121 tonnes was recycling and 90 tonnes was food waste. The total 
invoiced income for the year for the commercial waste, recycling and food waste is £522,625.  
 

 

 
 

 
Work with partners and the community on projects to improve the environment and 
streetscene  

 
 
Tackling fly-tipping, illegal parking, dog fouling, littering and ASB (Cllr Murphy)  
The total number of fly tips for January February and March are shown below. Wisbech rural 
villages have been the most affected across the district.  
Month  Total  Chatteris  March  Whittlesey  Wisbech  Villages  
Jan  148 12 29 5 52 50 
Feb   78 3 14 2 34 25 
Mar 129 7 24 13 49 36 

  
The Street Scene Team aim to be as proactive as they can and aim to attend fly tipped sites to 
look for any evidence. Some of our proactive work is included below:  
 

• 5 members of the public have been issued with a Fixed Penalty Notice of £400 for 
breaching their householder’s duty of care. All paid cash for waste to be removed which 
was later found dumped. No checks were carried out as to who was taking waste away 
with one resident showing an enforcement officer a message saying the person, they 
were happy to give cash to was accused of dumping waste.  3 of the fines have been 
paid. The others are still within timescale.  

  
• A male from Wisbech has been prosecuted at Peterborough Magistrates Court 

Page 34



 

21 

 

after pleading guilty to dumping waste in West Street Car Park. The person was fined 
£40 by the court with additional costs awarded of £490.  

  
4 Formal Interview Under Cautions have been carried out. All were questioned in 
connection with waste fund dumped.  
  
Additional enforcement work is taking place on March Marketplace to raise awareness of the 
parking order following the recent improvement works. Sadly, we have had to issue 6 parking 
fines to cars who were found to be parking illegally.  
  
The team have received a total of 65 reported abandoned vehicles. All were investigated 
and 2 were removed by our contractor due to being a danger to the highway.   
 
Points to note: 

• Chapel Road Car Park review and the location for the fair post expire (March 2024) 
• Grant funding of £1400 has been received from the PCC antisocial behaviour 

communities fund. This will be spent on fly tipping signage and 2 new cameras which 
can be used for covert surveillance. 

• An audit was carried out of our covert surveillance operations and the Council passed 
and were praised for being compliant. 

 
 
Maintaining open spaces through grounds maintenance contractor and Street Pride, In 
Bloom, Green Dog Walkers and Friends of groups (Cllr Murphy) 
Tivoli stated on grass cutting rounds in early spring and, despite the wettest winter on record, 
things have gone according to plan so far.  
 
The West End Park extension is being adopted from developers Cannon Kirk at any time.  
Tivoli has now taken on grass cutting duties for that area too. 
 
A total of 20 Street Pride events were held in January, 19 in February and 28 in March by 
community groups to improve the environment. As well as regular work parties, a few key 
events to highlight are: 
 

• On 31st January the Friends of Rings End Nature Reserve held a Stargazing event, led 
by local astronomers. This was an opportunity for the community to attend to look at 
and learn about the stars whilst being able to appreciate the reserve and nature they 
can find on their doorstep. 

• The Friends of March Railway Station held an open house event on 10th February and 
recruited 5 new volunteers. 

• The Friends of Wisbech General Cemetery held their annual Snowdrop Walk on 
Sunday 11th February. Funds raised on the day will go towards further enhancements to 
the cemetery. 

• The month of March saw 13 groups hold a litter pick to coincide with Keep Britain Tidy’s 
national campaign ‘Great British Spring Clean’.  At March Street Pride’s event they 
were joined by members of staff from MJS Construction and pupils from All Saints          
Inter-Church Academy. 

• Also under the campaign, Benwick Street Pride / In Bloom undertook a wildflower 

Page 35



 

22 

 

sowing project at the three gateway entrances to the village with support from FACT & 
funds from Benwick Parish Council as part of their biodiversity programme. 

• The Friends of Octagon Graveyard gave a tour to visitors from Tydd St Giles and 
Newton-in-the-Isle Gardening Club, so that they could hear about the history of the site, 
the people buried here, and measures being taken to make it a wildlife friendly pocket 
park.   

 
Working with town councils and the community to provide local markets and market 
town events (including Four Seasons events) (Cllr Murphy)  
Please see update earlier in the report – ‘Supporting groups to hold public events’ 
 
 
Review the current arrangements for parking enforcement in Fenland (Cllr French) 
FDC received the updated corrective sign and line costs from Cambridgeshire County Council 
on 23rd November for all four tranches (one for each of the Market Towns and surrounding 
areas) where traffic regulation orders are in place.  Collectively, 294 signing defects were 
found to exist along with 743 lining defects. The target cost (estimated cost which could go up 
or down) for the signing and lining works amounted to £592,393.33 which also included a 10% 
contingency allowance. 
 
Based on minimal civil enforcement officer deployment, the annual revenue deficit to FDC for 
the administration and operational running of CPE was estimated at £45,469.20 per year. This 
excludes any costs associated with administering waiver, dispensations, suspensions and 
permits which would be conditional of the County Council agency agreement.     
 
Whilst the CPCA funding deadline was revised to December 2025, the CPE project cannot be 
delivered unless the estimated funding shortfall in the region of £500,000 is found from the 
FDC purse. Currently progress on the CPE project has been paused until such time as 
additional funding is found or committed. 
 
Reference should be made to the Cabinet report dated18/12/2023 - Property, Assets & Major 
Projects – On and Off-Street Parking Enforcement Update Paper. 
 
Officers are currently looking at the estimated cost of introducing a District wide parking places 
order across all FDC owned car parks. Whilst this would not offer enforcement of on-street 
parking areas, this would enable off-street parking areas owned by FDC to be regulated and 
enforced which would in turn free up parking spaces to reduce on-street parking 
contraventions.   
 
 
Street Lighting (Cllr French)   
 
Street Light Repairs & Maintenance 
A total of 67 streetlight faults were reported and attended to during the months of January to 
March by FDC’s streetlight maintenance contractor on behalf of FDC, Clarion Housing 
Association and the seven of the Parish Councils that FDC provide streetlight services for. 
Only 22 of the reported faults related to District Council streetlights during this period.  
 
Over the last 12 months, 235 streetlight faults were reported. An overview of the fault 
attendance can be seen below. These figures exclude any programmed replacement or 

Page 36



 

23 

 

upgrade works. 
 
Fenland DC –         118 Fault Reports 
Clarion -                 6 Fault Reports 
Christchurch –       5 Fault Reports  
Elm –                       39 Fault Reports 
Gorefield –            11 Fault Reports 
Manea -                35 Fault Reports 
Newton –               7 Fault Reports  
Parson Drove –     6 Fault Reports  
Tydd St Giles –      8 Fault Reports 
 
The above figures include 7 faults which required emergency attendance and 4 which were 
major faults. 
 
 
Capital Street Light Replacement Works 
A number of streetlight replacements have been progressed on behalf of six Parish Councils. 
In recent months progress has also been made in completing any outstanding FDC 
replacement works that had been previously ordered, however some connectivity works are 
still outstanding with UKPN, despite continued officer and contractor communications with 
UKPN and Cambridgeshire County Councils StreetWorks team.  
 
The remaining capital streetlight replacements shall be ordered following programmed 
electrical and structural testing works due to commence in July and the appointment of a new 
streetlight service provider following a tendered contract exercise later this year. 
        
 
FDC Car Park Maintenance (Cllr French) 
Car Park asset inspections are scheduled to commence in April where the various defects 
shall be quantified and actioned. The Engineering Team have seen construction costs for 
repair works increase considerably over the last 12 months and a noticeable reduction in 
contractor interest to undertake repair works for FDC. 
 
Gully cleansing works for all FDC’s public car parks was undertaken in January /February.  
 
Liaison with the National Trust continues following the expiry of the long term 60-year lease 
agreement of Chapel Road Car Park on 25th March.  FDC’s former lease will hold over on a 
protected lease arrangement until a way forward is determined and agreed. 
 
FDC have now received a notice to vacate the Darthill Road Car Park from solicitors acting on 
behalf of the landowners. Currently FDC have until 8th April 2025 to vacate the site, however 
FDC officers are seeking legal advice in relation to this matter following which a detailed 
strategy for the site will be circulated to cabinet for consideration.    
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



 

24 

 

 
 

 
Work with partners to keep people safe in their neighbourhoods by reducing crime & 
antisocial behaviour and promoting social cohesion  

 
 
Community Safety Partnership updates (Cllr Wallwork) 
Drink Spiking Awareness: 
Community Safety worked with the Licensing team and the police licensing officer to create 
and co-ordinate a drink spiking project. Based on feedback given by police, spiking was low in 
the Fenland area, so an educational campaign was deemed more appropriate. As such, 
posters promoting education were created and, with the help of the Streetscene team, they 
were handed out to local drinking establishments. Distribution was intelligence led and we 
opted for likely ‘hotspot’ locations linked to the nighttime economy. A few designs were created 
and distributed.  
 
Shoplifting: 
As part of the partnership work looking at the problem of shoplifting, engagement with stores 
identified a lack of awareness and a willingness and/or confidence to report offences. The 
Fenland police teams and FDC Community Safety & Reprographics designed and printed a 
shoplifting booklet.  The booklets have been distributed across the retail outlets of Fenland.  
 
Feedback from retail outlets about the booklet  

• QR codes in booklet were well received.  
• Liked the examples of outcomes. 
• GoodSam well received.  

 
March town distribution was completed as a part of Police action week focussed on retail 
crime which helped gain traction and relevance to the visits. 
 
External Funding: 
The partnership continues to support applications for external funding. FDC teams have made 
a number of bids to a OPCC fund relating to fly tipping issues. The partnership has also made 
a funding bid to support the delivery of two projects related to the Serious Violence Duty. The 
applications have received local support and have received funding. 
 
Hate Crime Project: 
Hate Crime training has been delivered to staff from organisations that are Third Party 
Reporting locations in Fenland. Attendees included Job Centre plus, Oasis Centre, Wisbech 
town council and Freedom Leisure. 
 
Domestic Abuse Project: 
Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence media campaigns continue to identify and share a wide 
range of content that will reach out to men, women, LGBTQi+ whilst also signposting to the 
support that is available.  
        
Working with the County Domestic Abuse Sexual Violence partnership and an action to 
increase engagement with the Eastern European (EE) Community on Domestic Abuse, 

Page 38



 

25 

 

Community Safety has secured advice and support flyers in 5 EE languages. These are being 
shared with partners, such as Housing, Community Centres, Ferry Project, Community 
Organisations and Primary Care. 
       
Work Force Development:  
The CSP continues to deliver training sessions to help improve the awareness of frontline staff 
and volunteers who work across Fenland. These sessions are linked to community safety 
topics and priorities of the partnership; 
 

• February: Focus on Eastern European Victims of Domestic Abuse was delivered to 57 
frontline professionals and members of community organisations.  

• March: In conjunction with Hourglass coordinated a domestic abuse awareness session 
to 23 frontline staff and members of community organisations 

 
 
Community Engagement: 
 
Chatteris  
The fourth and final town event was held in January at the King Edward Centre in Chatteris. 
This event was supported by partner agencies including, Cambs Fire & Rescue, NHW, Scams 
& Cybercrime Officer from Cambs Police, Bobby Scheme.  Issues reported included concerns 
with dog fouling and speeding and enquiries relating to NHW. 
  
Elm  
A community safety event was held in Elm church at the lunch club in February.  Residents 
engaged with Cambs Police, Cyber Crime officers and community safety to ask for advice and 
guidance on safety using internet sites, online purchasing and how to report dog fouling to 
FDC. 
 
We continue to seek opportunities to visit rural locations and these smaller events are primarily 
supported by Cambridgeshire Constabulary, the local Neighbourhood Police Team and the 
Scams/Cybercrime Officer.  
 
 
Fenland Diverse Communities Forum updates on delivering the Community Cohesion 
Action Plan (Cllr Wallwork) 
In partnership with Cambridgeshire Constabulary, the Diverse Community’s Forum (DCF), and 
its partners an awareness programme is underway to raise/ improve awareness of hate crime 
trends, improve confidence for people to report these crimes and the formal reporting options 
and third-party reporting opportunities to do this. This also includes on-going refresher training 
for the established third-party reporting centres across the district, with over 100+ 
professionals/ volunteers who work across Fenland attending the training in the last year.  
There was also a Social Media campaign which partners were encouraged to support and this 
is repeated and synced with other initiatives. This hopefully will help to raise people’s 
confidence to report and thus improve the under reporting of these crimes that take place.  
 
Some of our challenges include that many of the victims state to partners that they believe that 
they have to accept being treated in this way as they believe that this is part of life in general.  
They simply don’t feel valued enough to see that this is unacceptable and/or confident enough 
to report these to the police for a number of reasons.  A lot of work is done by Diverse 

Page 39



 

26 

 

Communities Forum partners to dispel this myth and to help build confidence to report 
incidents and provide alternative ways to do this. To make reporting more user friendly, we 
have promoted on-line reporting and local community led independent reporting centres for 
anyone to come forward and report incidents of hate incidents and/ or crime. These centres 
offer the opportunity to victims and witnesses of crime to talk to someone in a safe place.  
What people say in the centres are strictly confidential and help people to report an incident 
without, in the first instance, directly speaking to the police. Trained members of staff are on 
hand to provide people with advice and to also refer victims to support services if they need 
any extra help. 
 
Hate Crime reports: 
This does not include incidents that the Police currently don’t provide details on.  The table 
below provides the number of crimes reported in each town and the hinterland surrounding it. 
 
 
Date 2023/24 
No of Hate 
Crimes 
reported in 
the month 
of…  

Chatteris March Whittlesey Wisbech 

April 0 0 0 + 
May 0 1 0 7+ 
Jun 0 1 2 2 
July 0 1 0 11 
August 0 2 1 9 
September 0 0 0 3 
October 0 5 0 5 
November 0 2 1 3 
December 1 0 1 5 
January 0 0 0 8 
February 0 4 0 8 
March 2 4 0 2 
Totals 3 20 5 63 

 
A total of 91 hate crimes were reported during this timeline. 
 
April and May 2023 figures have been amalgamated due to a change in Police reporting 
figures. 
 
We also work with the County wide Victims Hub who can offer support to victims by 
professionally qualified people. 
 
Appropriately trained community partners in the Diverse Communities Forum also engaged in 
low level community mediation as one of a range of conflict resolution interventions that seeks 
to settle disputes and conflicts at the neighbourhood level, referring people (if appropriate) to 
the victims hub. Other practical conflict resolution intervention tools include peer mediation and 
are in place at schools who receive ongoing support from the police. 
 

Page 40



 

27 

 

The partnership maintains ongoing links with the Third Party Community Reporting Centres in 
the district.  These will also be promoted by the Council’s communications team. 
 
There is a Hate Reporting Centre Partnership Protocol in place for all Reporting Centres in 
Cambridgeshire. 
 
Community Safety Grant Agreement updates (Cllr Wallwork) 
Working with Neighbourhood Watch (NHW) and local police, the team conducted a community 
engagement session in the Safer Street 5 project in Wisbech. The session was intended to 
improve awareness of and increase membership of NHW. There was interest in starting three 
potential new NHW schemes which will be progressed.  
 
Reports were received of inappropriate use of a mini-moto on a public green space and impact 
of noise nuisance, which was also damaging green space and making green space unsafe to 
use. Working with the customer to identify the potential perpetrator, we’ve then been able to 
link with local police regarding a visit to suspected perpetrator.  
 
 
Deliver the CCTV shared service with Peterborough City Council (Cllr Wallwork) 
The CCTV shared service has maintained its 100% service function across a 24/7 period – the 
CCTV service is the only council service that is delivered across 24 hours a day, 365 days a 
year. 
  
From April 2023 to March 2024, the CCTV service has been able to respond to 1,110 incidents 
across our four market towns including incidents relating to anti-social behaviour, criminal 
damage, violent crime, illegal drug use, possession of weapons and theft. As a result of CCTV 
intervention this has led to 152 arrests being made by Cambridgeshire Police. This highlights 
the work CCTV services do to support the council and partners in responding to crime and 
disorder and helping to make our communities safer and reduce the fear of crime. 
  
The CCTV service also continues to be pro-active in delivering services that helps reduce 
crime & disorder and anti-social behaviour by delivering regular camera patrols of our four 
market towns and other key locations. The CCTV team have delivered 4,380 patrols during 
2023/24. All patrols are conducted across the 24/7 period ensuring that no matter what time of 
day and night our local communities are being protected and that any issues or concerns are 
being identified as early as possible. 
  
The CCTV service also provides the councils ‘out of hours’ telephone contact services for 
example, homelessness, stray and lost dogs, cleansing incidents, dangerous buildings and 
structures, damaged trees, to name but a few areas. During 2023/24 the CCTV service has 
responded to over 388 calls for services from our telephone contact service. 
 
 
Street Drinking Update (Cllr Wallwork)  
Community reports to police and FDC continue to be low.  
 
CCTV continue to monitor and provide data feedback. Of the observed street drinking by 
CCTV, the behaviour of the individuals involved rarely requires notifying the police for their 
consideration of attendance.  
 

Page 41



 

28 

 

Homeless outreach resources continue to report less observed street drinking in public open 
spaces. It’s believed Op Luscombe has had a positive impact. 
 
Op Luscombe, the police led partnership work to tackle street based ASB issues, continues to 
have a positive impact. External funding secured by FDC will support extra policing activity in 
addition to their normal patrols. 
 
Monthly partnership monitoring meetings continue in addition to the Op Luscombe hub 
meetings. 
 
The general consensus of partners is that street drinking is reducing overall in Wisbech. 
However, partners are conscious of seasonal trends and potential increase as we enter the 
lighter days and warmer weather. 
 
A fixed CCTV camera has been installed at St Peter’s Church Gardens, which is a hotspot 
location. The camera has been funded through Safer Streets 4. 
 

 

 

Page 42



 

29 

 

Key PIs: 
 
Key PI Description Baseline Target 

22/23 
Cumulative 

Performance 
Variance 

(RAG) 
CELP8 Rapid or Village Response requests actioned the same or next day 96% 90% 93%  

CELP9 
 

% of inspected streets meeting our cleansing standards  98% 93% 97%  

CELP10 % of collected household waste – Blue Bin recycling (1 month in 
arrears) 

27% 28% 26.6%  

CELP11 Customer satisfaction with refuse and recycling services  95.8% 90% 93.6%  

CELP12 Customer satisfaction with our garden waste service 89.1% 85% 89.8%  

CELP13 Number of Street Pride and Friends Of community environmental 
events supported 

236 204 255  

CELP14 % of those asked who are satisfied with events 97% 95% 98%  
CELP18 % of businesses who said they were supported and treated fairly 100% 95% 100%  
 
Key: 
 Within 5% of target 
 5-10% below target 
 10% or more below target 
 
Comments 
CELP 10: Recycling weights are reducing as a result of some increases in contamination, producers reducing the weight of their 
packaging and customers changing their buying habits.  
 

P
age 43



 

30 

 

Economy 
 
Projects from Business Plan: 
 
 

 
 

 
Promote and enable housing growth, economic growth and regeneration  
 
 
Delivery of new homes (including affordable homes) (Cllr Laws & Cllr Hoy) – DH 
2023/2024 saw a significant uplift in the delivery of affordable dwellings in Fenland in 
comparison to the previous 2 years.  16 of the affordable ownership units in 2023/2024 were 
delivered as part of the First Homes scheme and were the first ones within the district. 
  
2023/2024 numbers are subject to change as we gather final year end numbers, but we are 
confident that changes if any will be small and be higher rather than lower. 
 
2024/2025 and beyond: 
Pipeline developments of over 1500 affordable dwellings (700 affordable rent, 300 shared 
ownership, and 500 tenure TBC)  
Currently forecasting circa 400 units to be completed in 2024/2025 continuing the upward 
trend in numbers. 
 
 
External funding bid updates (Cllr Boden) 
 
Shared Prosperity Fund 
In 2023/24, Fenland District Council awarded £194,910 to eight Fenland businesses through the UK 
Shared prosperity fund.  100% of available funds for 2023/24 have been distributed and all projects 
were delivered by the 31st of March 2024 deadline. 
 
UK Rural Prosperity Fund 2023/24 
Fenland District Council awarded £75,005 to fifteen businesses through the UK Rural Prosperity Fund. 
All capital items have been purchased prior to 31st of March 2024 deadline. 
 
For 2024/25, three grants through the UK Shared Prosperity Fund went live in December 2023 and 
closed on the 6th of April 2024. 
  

(1) UK Shared Prosperity Fund – 123 expressions of interest received; grants requested totalled 
£2,632,284 with a projected return of investment totalling £4,513,000. Only £316,500 is 
available to meet Fenland business's needs. 

 
(2) UK Shared Prosperity Fund for Start-Ups – 26 expressions of interest received 

 
(3) UK Rural Prosperity Fund – 20 expressions of interest received 

 
 
Capital Projects Update: 

Page 44



 

31 

 

 
Accommodation Review  
Work continues in conjunction with the instructed expert external partners to help draw 
together the Outline Business Case in respect of the short-listed options regarding the 
organisation’s future accommodation requirements. The Outline Business Case will support 
the decision-making process in relation to the future of the Corporate Accommodation. 
 
As part of the next steps, we are engaging with key partners via One Public Estate (OPE) to 
ascertain the potential for future co-location.  
 
A report seeking members agreement to a preferred option regarding the Corporate 
Accommodation will be brought to Cabinet in Spring 2024, following which, if Cabinet are in 
agreement, a full business case of the preferred option will be commissioned. 
 
Wisbech Port  
The suspended quay works are completed, APA Concrete Repairs met the contractual repair 
deadline of 15 December 2023 for the repairs to the underside of the quay.  

 
We have now received two consignments of the new cargo of LECA (Lightweight Expanded 
Clay Aggregate). This will still be monitored closely by the Port Authority and our 
environmental team to prevent any migration of the material. 

The Port of Wisbech is currently receiving 3-4 cargos of timber and bricks each month.  The 
timber is being discharged on both Crab Marsh Berth and our town Berths due to split shipping 
loads by Port of Wisbech Ltd costumers. 

The yacht harbour and boat yard continue to be very busy with additional commercial fishing 
vessels arriving for their spring maintenance programs.  Whilst some vessels have left for the 
summer, the increase of commercial vessels arriving has resulted in additional work linked to 
lift outs and use of yard space, including a broken-down  RNLI vessel that needed to be lifted 
out onto transport for repair.  However, we are still on target to achieve our performance 
targets of 95%. 

Berthing Applications have been sent out for 2024/25 and we have received 74% back within 
the first two weeks of April. This follows fees and charges being approved by Cabinet early in 
March. 

The Elms Chatteris  
Lovell and Fenland Future Ltd are developing the business plan, technical reports and final 
scheme design for the reserved matters planning application to be submitted. 
 
Nene Waterfront Development 
A Reserved Matters planning application is being finalised for the affordable housing extra 
care scheme on plot 5 and work is progressing as to the development on the remaining 4 
plots. 
 
March Future High Street Fund (Cllr Seaton & Cllr French)  
The March Future High Street programme continues through delivery phase and at pace. To 
date, the Marketplace scheme has been completed on time and under budget, along with four 
property grants being provided to local property owners.  

Page 45



 

32 

 

 
Grants Update:  
Government have confirmed that the grants can now be offered to business tenants as well as 
property owners, dramatically increasing the appeal of the grants. Officers are currently 
working up an application process for this revision to the grants available.  
 
Broad Street and Riverside update: 
The Broad Street project continues to be delivered by main contractor Octavius, with regular 
community coffee mornings making officers and staff available to members of the public that 
may have questions or concerns.  
 
At the time of writing, paving along the eastern side of Broad Street, Dartford Road and Station 
Road is completed. The toilet block and shelter have been demolished and the road has been 
relocated to operate on a temporary surface of the new road layout.  
 
The temporary mini roundabout was installed prior to the Easter weekend and is operating as 
planned, although there are still a set of temporary lights in operation creating some minor 
delays for road users. These are expected to be removed at the end of May.  
 
Following a brief road closure in March, a significant underground void has been repaired, 
reducing future risk of damage and future emergency closures of the road. 
 
The coming weeks will see the next phase of the project progress as works focus on the 
southern end of Broad Street and initial works begin on the western side of the road 
implementing the new pedestrian area, planters and street furniture. 
 
A planning application for the replacement toilet on Grays Lane has been submitted and is live 
on the planning portal. This application is due for determination in May.  
 
 
Growing Fenland (Cllr Boden)  
 
Chatteris Projects 
The Chatteris Town Council managed Chatteris Museum project has now moved the museum 
into its new premises (the old Barclay’s bank building in the High Street) as scheduled.   

The contract for the works to 14 Church Lane has been awarded and work is well underway in 
converting the former museum and town council chambers to create better work spaces, badly 
needed storage facilities and new community rooms. The existing first floor accommodation is 
already taking shape as a residential flat, and initial work is now complete for the new build 
above the flat roof part of the building at the rear to create a second residential flat for rent. 
The building work continues but should be completed shortly, allowing Chatteris Town Council 
to move back after using temporary accommodation at 2 Park Street.  As a result of the 
building works large meetings of the Council, including full council meetings, are being held at 
the King Edward Centre. 

 
Whittlesey Projects 
Funding from the CPCA, following the suspension of the Whittlesey Heritage Centre project, 
has been secured for work to; 

Page 46



 

33 

 

• Develop an SOBC regarding a Whittlesey relief road.  Consultants will be appointed to 
progress this work. 
 

• Add additional solar PV to the Manor swimming pool;  
Business case developed. Application to UKPN underway – awaiting notice from UKPN 
to proceed. 

• Improvements to the netball / tennis court area at the Manor Centre: 
Fencing replacement has been completed, lighting units have been ordered and the 
playing surface refurbishment is due to complete w/b 29 April. 

 
• Whittlesey Buttercross – trip hazard works 

Discussions regarding options for this work have taken place.  Meetings with local 
Members will be booked in the coming weeks to consider the situation. 

 
Wisbech Projects 
There is no further progress with the Shop Watch Radio Scheme due to issues around access 
to the aerials at Exchange Tower. 
 
 
Continue to review council land and property assets to ensure they are fit for purpose 
and optimised to deliver better public services, improve efficiency and release surplus 
land for residential and commercial development as outlined in our Commercial 
Investment Strategy (Cllr Benney) 
The Estates team continue to engage as a key stakeholder in the ongoing accommodation 
review.  As reported to members, this has included member tours of both Fenland Hall and 
The Base and work with appointed agents in preparation of an outline Business case to be 
presented to members in due course. 
 
The first tranche of disposal and overage claims is ongoing with a total of £466K received as 
of October 2023. The remaining initial properties continue to be pursued via planning consents 
prior to sale at auction to ensure maximum value. Future value gains are also protected with 
the adoption of stricter overage clauses. 
 
Work is concluding in relation to identifying potential sites for a further tranche of disposals, 
and these will be put before members for approval prior to disposal work commencing. 
 

 
 

 
Promote and lobby for infrastructure improvements  
 
 
Promotion of sustainable road, rail and concessionary travel initiatives  
 
Manea Railway Station 
The car park at the station opened in August 2023 with a soft launch. An official opening was 
held in January 2024. 
 
March Station 

Page 47



 

34 

 

The platform 1 building project and the refurbished and extended station car park was officially 
opened in May 2022. 
 
Whittlesea Station 
Following the completion of the second strategic outline business case and options appraisal 
work in late 2022, additional funding needed to be sourced for the Outline Business Case 
(OBC) and to deliver projects on the ground.  Following a public consultation in late 2023, the 
CPCA have approved £3 million pounds for Whittlesea Station from April 2024 to end of March 
2027. 
 
Further details about the Whittlesea Station funding are available here  Document.ashx 
(cmis.uk.com) 
 
Hereward Community Rail Partnership 
Funding applications in 2023 were successful in securing money for a Manea Walking and 
Cycling map and a series of 10 mini maps covering a range of locations within Fenland.  
These projects were successfully completed in March 2024 and can be views from the 
following link: 
Fenland Walking and Cycling Maps - Fenland District Council 
 
The CRP worked in partnership with the Friends of March Railway Station to enable children 
from Westward School to visit the station, learn about its history and view and the model 
railway.  
 
Gardening projects have also been completed with the new planters finished at Whittlesea 
Station, new planters for Peterborough Station and a gardening/Volunteer Day at Ely Station. 
 
A successful Meet the Manager Event was held in Manea Village Hall and at Manea Station.  
This gave local people the opportunity to meet with train company representatives and ask 
questions.  
 
 
Engagement with CPCA and CCC on delivery of major road and rail infrastructure 
projects  
 
Local Transport and Connectivity Plan (LTCP) 
There is no specific update on this project 
The LTCP sets out the forward transport strategy for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. It is 
an essential document to help secure funding for local transport improvements. The CPCA are 
currently updating this document.  In November 2023 the latest version of the LTCP went to 
the CPCA Board for further discussion and was adopted.  This version of the document 
includes the full draft LTCP with the district chapters, the main report and all the appendices. It 
can be viewed from the link below.     
CMIS > Meetings 
 
Relating to the September 2023 version of the LTCP, at FDC Council on 2 October 2023, a 
motion was passed that the LTCP should be revised. The good elements should be retained 
and matters relating to deliverability and funding should be amended and prioritised. Any such 
prioritisation should recognise differences within individual districts.  A copy of the motion has 
been sent to all CPCA Board members. Further details can be found in the FDC press release, 

Page 48

https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=n05KblBZlMpVvZRReJ1nHBI7YgAP6DYBARCSepw96lnb69x%2fT8Sc2Q%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=n05KblBZlMpVvZRReJ1nHBI7YgAP6DYBARCSepw96lnb69x%2fT8Sc2Q%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
https://www.fenland.gov.uk/article/17349/Fenland-Walking-and-Cycling-Maps
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2173/Committee/67/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx


 

35 

 

a link to which is below 
Call for revised local transport plan - Fenland District Council 
 
Wisbech Access Strategy 
There is no specific update for this project. 
This is a CPCA funded project being delivered by Cambridgeshire County Council.  It contains 
a range of transport projects in Wisbech that aim to address transport issues within the town 
and to help support the delivery of the scale of growth in the Fenland Local Plan. The latest 
information about the project can be found on the County Council website from the following 
link: 
https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/residents/travel-roads-and-parking/transport-funding-bids-
and-studies/wisbech-access-strategy 
 
A Wisbech Access Strategy report was presented to CPCA Business Board in July 2021 and 
CPCA Board in September 2021.  The report required a strategic decision on the way forward 
linked to timescales and budgets. It was agreed that funding would be made available to 
complete the detailed design and the land acquisition for the 3 schemes – A47 Broad End 
Road, A47 Elm High Road and A1101 Ramnoth Road/Weasenham Lane. A copy of the main 
accompanying paper for the meetings mentioned above can be found from the following link:  
https://cambridgeshire.cmis.uk.com/ccc_live/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/
Meeting/1529/Committee/62/Default.aspx 
 
There has been delays relating to land acquisition and ongoing discussions around related 
issues such as probate.  This work is now expected to complete before the end of 2023. The 
next step for these 3 projects is to secure funding for their construction.  
 
March Area Transport Study – Main schemes 
There is no specific update for this project. Work is ongoing to progress the individual 
projects as set out below. 
This is a CPCA funded project being delivered by Cambridgeshire County Council. It includes 
a range of transport projects across March to address transport issues and to facilitate new 
housing and employment growth. 
 
In January 2023, A paper went to CPCA Transport and Infrastructure Committee.  The paper 
asked the Committee to: 

• note the completion of the Full Business Case stage 1 (FBC1);  
• Recommend to the Combined Authority Board to approve the drawdown of £4,149,825 

for the construction of MATS Broad Street;  
• Recommend to the Combined Authority Board to approve the drawdown of £300,000 

for the completion of the FBC 2;  
Here is a link to the Committee Paper and relevant reports for further details: CMIS > 
Meetings. 
Work is ongoing to deliver these projects until Spring 2024. 
 
The schemes forming part of this project are: 

• A141 / Peas Hill Roundabout Upgrade (52m ICD), including the creation of an 
allmovement signalised junction at the A141 / Hostmoor Avenue Junction.  

• A141 / Twenty Foot Road Signals.  
• Broad Street / Dartford Road / Station Road Mini Roundabout, with one lane in each 

Page 49

https://www.fenland.gov.uk/article/17601/Call-for-revised-local-transport-plan
https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/residents/travel-roads-and-parking/transport-funding-bids-and-studies/wisbech-access-strategy
https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/residents/travel-roads-and-parking/transport-funding-bids-and-studies/wisbech-access-strategy
https://cambridgeshire.cmis.uk.com/ccc_live/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/1529/Committee/62/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshire.cmis.uk.com/ccc_live/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/1529/Committee/62/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2140/Committee/67/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2140/Committee/67/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx


 

36 

 

direction on Broad Street  
• High Street / St Peter’s Road Traffic Signal Improvements.  
• Development of a Northern Industrial Link Road (NILR) – As a larger more complex 

project this scheme is expected to be taken to FBC2 in 2024. 
 
March Area Transport Study – Walking & Cycling Schemes 
There is no specific update for this project. Work is ongoing to progress the individual 
projects as set out below. 
 
The MATS project also includes a Walking and Cycling Strategy.  £562,800 was approved at 
the October 2022 CPCA Board meeting. This funding allows for schemes in the Walking and 
Cycling Strategy to be progressed in 3 phases.  The phase one schemes which are primarily 
lining and signing will be constructed and completed in full. Phase 2a schemes require further 
investigation and design work to determine the solution to be built. Phase 2b schemes require 
option development work as well as further investigation and design work.  This funding will 
enable 28 projects to be progressed as set out above. Phases 2A and 2B will require further 
funding in the future for their construction.  
 
A copy of the October 2022 CPCA Board meeting paper setting out more details and 
information including for the 28 schemes can be found from the link below: 
 
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPubl
ic/mid/397/Meeting/2117/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx 
 
The full technical details and feasibility study work associated with the March Area Transport 
Strategy can be found on the County Council website from the link below 
https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/residents/travel-roads-and-parking/transport-funding-bids-
and-studies/march-transport-study 
 
March to Wisbech Railway Line 
There is no specific update for this project. Work is ongoing to progress the individual 
projects as set out below. 
 
This is a CPCA funded project with study work being taken forward by CPCA.   
 
In November 2022, CPCA Transport and Infrastructure Committee and the Board approved 
work to Undertake an Options Assessment Report to provide the economic analysis on mode 
options, including existing information on heavy rail. This will be based on a service operating 
between Wisbech and March which removes the current dependency on Ely Area Capacity 
Enhancements whilst still being mindful of the future strategy to link into Cambridge. £80,000 
has been drawn down from CPCA Medium Term Financial Plan to undertake this options 
assessment work.  This study work is currently ongoing. 
 
A link to the papers and information from the November 2022 CPCA meeting with the the 
relevant reports and papers can be found from the link below: 
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPubl
ic/mid/397/Meeting/2139/Committee/67/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx 
 
A47  
There is no specific update for this project. Work is ongoing to progress the individual 

Page 50

https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2117/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2117/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/residents/travel-roads-and-parking/transport-funding-bids-and-studies/march-transport-study
https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/residents/travel-roads-and-parking/transport-funding-bids-and-studies/march-transport-study
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2139/Committee/67/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2139/Committee/67/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx


 

37 

 

projects as set out below. 
In May 2023 National Highways released a series of documents and a consultation to support 
the Roads Investment Strategy 3 process covering the period 2025 – 2030.  The consultation 
is live until 13 July 2023. It includes a Strategic Road Network Initial report, regional reports, 
and interactive maps. There are several references to A47 within the East of England regional 
report. The outcome of the consultation will feed into the RIS3 decision making by 
Government.  The documents can be viewed from the following link:  
https://routestrategies.nationalhighways.co.uk/ 
 
As part of RIS2 National Highways are working on a series of Pipeline scheme undertaking 
feasibility and other technical work to support decisions for RIS3.  One of these projects is A47 
Elm High Road roundabout.  They are also considering this roundabout alongside 
Weasenham Lane/Ramnoth Road.  Officers are providing extensive technical input into the 
project.  The outcome of the work will go forward to Government as part of their decision 
making for RIS3. Any such decisions are expected to be in 2024.  
 
Whittlesey Relief Road Project SOBC 
The Whittlesey Relief Road Strategic Outline Business Case (SOBC) project is being procured 
and managed by Fenland District Council with funding from the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) market towns programme.  The project 
commenced in March 2023 with a paper approved by FDC Cabinet for the Governance 
arrangements and procurement of a contractor to deliver the project.  Please see the link to 
the Cabinet paper for further details. 
Cabinet Paper March 2023 - Whittlesey Relief Rd V2 6.2.2023 updated 02.03.23.pdf 
(fenland.gov.uk) 
 
A procurement exercise has since been completed and a contractor appointed in August 2023.  
Project Board meetings took place in August and September 2023. The project has an agreed 
programme to complete in late autumn 2024.  Initial evidence and gap analysis work, including 
traffic surveys was completed in 2023 and early 2024.  Technical workshops have been held 
to seek the views of key stakeholders and a case for change report is in progress.  All the 
steps of the project are in line with government business case guidelines.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51

https://routestrategies.nationalhighways.co.uk/
https://www.fenland.gov.uk/localgov/documents/s11850/Cabinet%20Paper%20March%202023%20-%20Whittlesey%20Relief%20Rd%20V2%206.2.2023%20updated%2002.03.23.pdf
https://www.fenland.gov.uk/localgov/documents/s11850/Cabinet%20Paper%20March%202023%20-%20Whittlesey%20Relief%20Rd%20V2%206.2.2023%20updated%2002.03.23.pdf


 

38 

 

Key PIs: 
 
Key PI Description Baseline Target 

23/24 
Cumulative 

Performance 
Variance 

(RAG) 
CELP15 % of major planning applications determined in 13 weeks  74% 70% 92.5%  
CELP16 % of minor planning applications determined in 8 weeks 62% 70% 68%  
CELP17 % of other planning applications determined in 8 weeks  81% 80% 85.75%  
EGA1 % occupancy of our business estates 93.9% 90% 95%  
MS1 % occupancy of Wisbech Yacht Harbour 99% 100% 95%  
 
Key: 
 Within 5% of target 
 5-10% below target 
 10% or more below target 
 
Comments 
 
 
 

P
age 52



 

39 

 

Quality Organisation 
 
Projects from Business Plan: 
 

 
Governance, Financial Control & Risk Management  
 
 
Finance and internal audit updates (Cllr Boden) 
The budget for 2024/25 was approved by Full Council in February 2024 and work to finalise 
the 2023/24 numbers is in progress. It is looking increasingly unlikely that we will have a full 
external carried out on the 2022/23 statement of accounts as the audit system attempts to deal 
with extensive backlogs. A Value for Money audit for 2022/23 was carried out and 
preparations for the 2023/24 audit are taking place. 
 
The Audit and Risk Management Committee met in February and March 2024 and full papers 
are available on our website. Following the last update, we have successfully recruited to the 
vacant positions in the Internal Audit team and a new Head of Internal Audit joins us in May 
with a new Internal Auditor starting on the 1st July. There will be some overlap with our interim 
arrangements as we want to ensure a full handover and to continue to deliver the internal audit 
plan in line with expectations. 
 
 
Data protection updates (Cllr Boden)  
There have been no reportable breaches of the UK GDPR during the period to which this 
briefing relates.  However there have been 4 recorded breaches requiring no further action.  In 
the same period, there have been no data subject access requests.  
 

 
 
Transformation and Efficiency  
 
 
Transformation Project updates (Cllr Boden & Cllr Tierney) 
The transformation team have saved officers 67 hours within the first week of successfully 
delivering the Booking to Live project into the Markets and Events team.  Implementing a 
cloud-based booking service has improved the customer experience and the transformation 
team are analysing the capacity to put this now proven software to good use further across the 
Council.  The next Booking Live implementation will be with Active Fenland as we are 
estimating a 28-hour efficiency per month within their team, allowing staff to spend more of 
their time on core work rather than administrative tasks.  In addition to this project, 
transformation have also delivered the DocuSign project into Housing Options.  This again has 
had an enormous immediate impact on Officer time and in turn a positive effect on managing 
the pressures that accompany the vital work undertaken by the Housing Options team.  As 
part of our project delivery commitment, we actively track the effects of projects within services 
to ensure that the projected outcomes have been met.  Please see below an example of our 
trackers.  This one is to validate that DocuSign does reduce the cost to the Council of mileage 
occurred by the Housing Options Officers. 
 

Page 53



 

40 

 

 
 
Transformation are supporting the continued roll out of TA1 efficiencies within the Planning 
Team.  Tablets are currently being issued to Planning Officers to improve application times 
and support a paperless approach to working.  
 
In addition to the above activities, service reviews have commenced and are already 
identifying costs savings and improvements to the customer’s experience, reducing exposure 
of risk to the Council and impacting on the budget deficit.  Our recommendations are being 
agreed and implemented.  Our team approach is allowing synergies between services to be 
identified and best practices replicated across the organisation.  We also pride ourselves in 
advocating a culture for continuous improvement encouraging services to consider their costs 
of recourses and engage with us to make impactful and sustainable change.  
 
Our team is also project managing the new Help Hub service in conjunction with My Fenland, 
to support the successful delivery of this new multi-agency initiative, which aims to support 
residents who have needs that are impacting upon their health and well-being. 
 
By reconfiguring the process for using Council land for events and adding in quality controls, 
we are empowering the Council to make better informed choices.  We are also re-addressing 
our service delivery of Public Health Funerals and services offers within our Cemetry Service.   
 
Finally, we are recommending planned preventative maintenance and cost avoidance 
procedures within our Port and Fleet. 
   
 
Identify and deliver projects that support us to become a ‘Council For the Future’ (CFF) 
(Cllr Boden & Cllr Tierney)  
Individual project updates are as detailed elsewhere in this report. A full review of 2022-23 was 
published in the Annual Report as approved by Cabinet on 17th July 2023. The report is 
available on our website 
 

 
 

Page 54



 

41 

 

 
Communication, Consultation and Engagement  
 
News update: 
The number of news stories added to the FDC website and distributed as press releases to 
local media in January = 12. We also created an additional 3 news articles we published on 
our website. 
  
Highlights include: 
  

• Council plans freeze on council tax, as draft Budget and Business Plan is published. 
• Nominate an unsung hero for Pride in Fenland award. 
• Free taster sessions for new Whittlesey strength and social exercise classes for older 

people. 
• Council leaders thank those who helped others during recent flooding. 
• New community pavilion set to enhance Wisbech Park. 
• Three people fined after using rogue traders to tip their rubbish. 
• Internal Drainage Board levies welcomes commitment to implement long-term funding 

solution. 
  
The number of news stories added to the FDC website and distributed as press releases to 
local media in February = 6. We also created an additional 8 news articles we published on 
our website. 
  
Highlights include: 
  

• Over £30,000 awarded to arts, culture and heritage organisations across Fenland. 
• More support for rough sleepers through council’s extended cold weather provision. 
• Over 60s can discover free support and services available to them at event in Parson 

Drove. 
• Consideration of legal challenge in bid to block Wisbech incinerator. 
• Toilet block demolition signifies next step in March town centre regeneration. 
• Join Street Pride and make a difference in Fenland this February! 

 
The number of news stories added to the FDC website and distributed as press releases to 
local media in March = 17.  
  
Highlights include: 
  

• The 17 businesses that got a £5k business grant from Rural England Prosperity Fund. 
• Council seeks judicial review of Wisbech incinerator decision. 
• Litter heroes assemble…Fenland is fighting back! 
• Amazing stories of bravery and selflessness at Pride in Fenland Awards. 
• Wisbech to get investment of up to £20m. 
• Council tax measure ramped up to help tackle long-term empty homes in Fenland. 
• Hannah Teasdale awarded Fenland Poet Laureate honour. 
• Latest Meet the Manager event provides open platform to discuss all things rail. 

Page 55



 

42 

 

 
All press releases are distributed to relevant press and media organisations, appear as a web 
article on the news pages of the Fenland District Council website and on our social media 
channels Facebook and Twitter. 

 
Monthly update on FDC social media sites: 
  
The number of social media updates added to the FDC twitter and Facebook accounts: 
 
January: 
Twitter = 132 
Facebook = 129 
  
February: 
Twitter = 112 
Facebook = 102 
 
March: 
Twitter = 134 
Facebook = 129 
 
We currently have 7,485 followers on Facebook and 8,865 followers on twitter. 
 
Consultation Summary: 

  
• Business Plan and Budget – 2 Jan – 4 February 2024.  
• Customer Satisfaction Survey – 26 Feb – 1 March 2024 

 
Business Plan 2024-25 
The Business Plan 2024-25 sets out the priorities 
we aim to deliver over the next 12 months. These 
priorities have been developed to address the 
most important needs of our communities and set 
a framework for how we will work towards our 
ambitions for the area and achieve our goal of 
creating a thriving place to live and visit. 
Its structure outlines our key Corporate Priorities 
(Communities, Environment, Economy and 
Quality Organisation), and an additional cross 
cutting 'Transformation Agenda - Council for the 
Future' section. This section encompasses our ongoing transformation work to improve 
efficiency and customer experience, drive positive change and ensure the Council is fit for the 
future.  
A Task and Finish group set up from members of the O&S panel reviewed the current 
performance indicators, and they were approved at Cabinet on 18 December 2023 to be 
included in the Business Plan 2024-25.     

Page 56

http://www.fenland.gov.uk/news
http://www.facebook.com/FenlandDistrictCouncil/
https://ukc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/twitter.com/FenlandCouncil


 

43 

 

The Business Plan was approved at Cabinet and Council on 26th February 2024. 
 

 
 
Excellent Customer Service  
 
 
Customer Service Excellence accreditation (Cllr Tierney)  
Our annual assessment is scheduled for 13 June and results will be shared as soon as they 
are available. 
 
 
Elections Update (Cllr Boden) 
 
Chatteris By-Election   
On Thursday 14 March 2024 the Council successfully delivered the Slade Lode South Ward of 
Chatteris Town Council By-Election following the resignation of Councillor Alice Keating.   
There was one polling station located at Quaker Way where 85 electors voted in person and a 
further 59 voted by post.   
 
The overall turnout was 21.2% of the registered voters and Ken Perrin was duly elected.  
The Elections Team and Polling Station Staff successfully piloted Modern Polling Technology 
in the Polling Station, and this will be rolled out to 40 of our 58 polling stations in May’s PCC 
Election.  
 
Elections Act 2022 Updates  
  
Online Absent Vote Applications (OAVA) 
Since the introduction of OAVA on 1 November 2023, the Elections Team have processed 908 
Online Applications via the Government Portal.  
  
Maximum period for absent vote applications now 3 years   
For electors who had a long-term postal vote in place before 31 October 2023 transitional 
arrangements were put in place to extend their absent vote expiry to 31 January 2026.  
  
With no refresh process in place, to ensure we continued to refresh signature images, as 
these can significantly change over time, and to avoid a huge volume of renewals in January 
2026, in February this year we invited 1860 of our oldest applications held to renew this year.  
  
No changes were made to any postal vote arrangements unless electors reapplied. 
783 successfully completed new absent vote applications. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



 

44 

 

3C’s Update (Cllr Tierney) 
 
October 2023- December 2023  
 

October 2023- 
December 2023 

Total Received On Time % on Time 

Correspondence 27 26 96% 

Stage 1    

CELP 32 32 100% 

GI 1 1 100% 

PRCS 12 11 92% 

Stage 2    

CELP 1 1 100% 

GI - - - 

PRCS - - - 

Stage 3    

CELP - - - 

GI 1 1 100% 

PRCS - - - 

 
 
January 2024 – March 2024 
 

January 2024- March 
2024 

Total Received On Time % on Time 

Correspondence 21 20 95% 

Stage 1    

CELP 28 22 79% 

GI - - - 

PRCS 9 8 89% 

Stage 2    

Page 58



 

45 

 

CELP 1 1 100% 

GI - - - 

PRCS 2 1 50% 

Stage 3    

CELP 2 2 100% 

GI - - - 

PRCS 2 2 100% 

 
 

 
 

 
Asset Management and Commercialisation  
 
 
Commercial & Investment Strategy (Cllr Boden) 
As part of the Commercial and Investment Strategy, a facility of £25m was granted to the 
Investment Board to finance capital expenditure to be undertaken in accordance with the aims 
and objectives of the agreed strategy. At the end of March 2024, £4m of this facility has been 
utilised to fund the acquisition of a commercial investment in Wisbech and a house in March. 
These acquisitions were approved at Investment Board meetings held on 16th March 2021 and 
3rd December 2021 respectively. Further utilisation of this facility was used to fund the 
development of the two sites now owned by Fenland Future Ltd in line with the agreed 
Business Plan for 2024/25 has now been agreed. 
 
The Commercial Investment in Wisbech has delivered a rental income of £230k every year 
since acquisition in March 2021 and continues to be on track for 2024/25. As we used our own 
funds to acquire this asset there is no external cost of capital and the loss of interest foregone 
on our funds is minimal at present. This acquisition has enhanced the Councils revenue 
position and has had a positive impact on the MTFS. 
 
Updates on the work of the Investment Board were presented to Cabinet at its meetings on 30 
January 2023, 16th March 2023 and 11th September 2023. The annual report on Investment 
Board activity was presented to Overview and Scrutiny on 19th September 2023. 
 
 
Fenland Future Limited (Cllr Boden, Cllr Benney & Cllr Tierney) 
Fenland Future Ltd (FFL) has been granted Outline Planning permission on the two Council 
owned sites identified for development in their Business Plan.  Work now progresses on 
options for the delivery methodology to be utilised in delivering the developments.  
 
On The Elms site in Chatteris, Lovell Homes have been commissioned to work with FFL as a 
Development Management Partner and Design Architects, Planning Consultant and 

Page 59



 

46 

 

Engineering specialists have been appointed to work up the Reserved Matters Application. At 
the Nene Waterfront in Wisbech, a Reserved Matters Application is being prepared for 1 of the 
5 plots for a circa 70 home affordable housing extra care scheme. 
 
 

 
 
Workforce Development 
 
 
Workforce skills and training (Cllr Boden) 
We have a strong commitment to learning and development. We believe that if we are to 
continue to deliver excellent services to our customers, our staff must be well trained. 

We have an extensive learning and development offer for our workforce, which involves 
opportunities for formal and informal training; we have a range of learning resources available 
to all staff, e-learning, coaching, shadowing, secondments, in house training workshops 
delivered by our own in-house experts; as well and more formal courses and training and 
apprenticeships.  

Staff value the learning and development opportunities that are offered at FDC and are able to 
indicate the difference that training makes to them and their team. However, it is important that 
we continually review our learning and development offer to ensure it is fit for purpose and as 
accessible as possible.  

We believe that talent exists in all our staff and that it is needs to be encouraged and nurtured. 
Every manager with staff responsibility manages talent through the following activities: 

• Performance management 
• Coaching and development 
• Springboard discussions, 121’s and  
• Recruitment 

 
Talent management and succession planning ensures ongoing organisational capacity and 
capability for the future and enables transformation; and at a time when more is demanded of 
less, it becomes increasingly important. 
 
Supporting and empowering staff (Cllr Boden) 
We are committed to supporting and empowering our workforce, and we have a range of 
support that our staff can access, from an Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) 
The EAP is free and confidential for staff to use, and is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a 
week, 365 days a year and is accessible by phone, email and online. 
  
The EAP is designed to help with a wide range of work, family, and personal issues. It 
provides practical information, fact sheets and packs, resource information on support services 
in the local area and even short-term face to face or telephonic counselling if required.  
 
It is supported by a comprehensive EAP website offering extensive resources including 
articles, interactive tools, regular online seminars, confidential 24/7 support, self-help 

Page 60



 

47 

 

workbooks, Podcasts, blogs, videos, and articles on a range of topics, Debit advice, Debit 
Management, Domestic Abuse support, Wellbeing portal & App, Trauma programme and 
Exercise and Fitness advice. 
  
Alongside this we provide additional support via our team of Mental Health First Aiders 
(MHFA), our Occupational Health Advisor, a range of family friendly policies and procedures, a 
comprehensive (cost neutral) employee benefits platform.  We also provide individual support 
via our HR team, service managers, our Management and Trade Union and Staff Partnership 
(MTSP) reps. 
 
We carry out our Staff Survey every two years to get a better understanding of employee 
morale, satisfaction, and engagement at Fenland District Council. This was undertaken in 
2022, with 87% of respondents stating they were proud to work for Fenland District Council. 
 

 
 

 
Health & Safety  
 
The Council has a comprehensive suite of Health and Safety Policies and procedures, which 
all managers are aware of and trained on. We have a Health and Safety Panel, with 
membership drawn from all areas of the Council. This Panel meets every quarter to ensure 
ongoing compliance in all areas; to track all health and safety related issues, accidents and 
near misses. An ongoing Action Plan to monitor the corporate health and safety goals is in 
place and well established.  
 
Work continues to drive forward improvements in health and safety management where 
required.  
 
In 2023/24 the emphasis has been to support managers and staff to continue good standards 
of health and safety.   
 
A summary of of the work for 2023/24 is provided below: 
 

• A review of the Council’s Codes of Practice as required under the three yearly revision 
programme. 

• Ongoing delivery of a corporate health & Safety training programme. 
• Ensure accident investigations are completed as applicable. 
• Coordinated delivery of a health surveillance programme across the Council. 
• Ongoing development of further e-learning training courses for the Council’s e-learning 

platform. 
• Completed audits/inspections of individual services/teams/buildings as per the audit 

programme. 
• Updated intranet-based health & safety information for staff use. 

 
 
Health & Safety Action Plan updates (Cllr Boden) 
Good progress has been made over the last 12 months to deliver our objectives as set out in 
the health and safety action plan for 2024/24.  Some of the actions are highlighted below: 

Page 61



 

48 

 

 
• The role out of internal health and safety e-learning courses developed for staff training 

via the Intranet. 
• An analysis of all accidents and their consequent actions has been undertaken. 
• Health and Safety training was delivered to a total of 113 staff 
• A programme of audits and inspections undertaken 

 
 

 
 
Other Updates: 
 

 
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Combined Authority (CPCA) update (Cllr Chris Boden) 
 
 
Information relating to the CPCA can be found on their website: 
 
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Combined Authority (cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk) 
 
Mayoral decisions can be found here. 
 
Officer decisions can be found here. 
 
The papers for recent meetings can be found by clicking on the links below: 
 
 

CPCA COMMITTEE DATE OF MEETING LINK 
Combined Authority Board 28.02.24 CMIS > Meetings 
Combined Authority Board 20.03.24 CMIS > Meetings 
Audit & Governance Committee 08.03.24 CMIS > Meetings 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 18.03.24 CMIS > Meetings 
Skills & Employment Committee  04.03.24 CMIS > Meetings 
Transport & Infrastructure Committee 13.03.24 CMIS > Meetings 
Business Board 04.03.24 CMIS > Meetings 
Human Resources Committee 08.03.24 CMIS > Meetings 
Human Resources Committee 13.03.24 CMIS > Meetings 
Human Resources Committee 14.03.24 CMIS > Meetings 
Environment & Sustainable Communities 
Committee 

11.03.24 CMIS > Meetings 

 
 
Forthcoming CPCA meetings include: 
 

CPCA COMMITTEE DATE OF MEETING LINK 
Combined Authority Board 05.06.24 CMIS > Meetings 
Business Board 20.05.24 CMIS > Meetings 
Audit & Governance Committee 07.06.24 CMIS > Meetings 
Employment & Skills Board 14.05.24 CMIS > Meetings 

Page 62

https://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Committees/tabid/62/ctl/ViewCMIS_CommitteeDetails/mid/381/id/71/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Committees/tabid/62/ctl/ViewCMIS_CommitteeDetails/mid/381/id/72/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2239/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2202/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2208/Committee/70/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2214/Committee/68/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2195/Committee/76/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2175/Committee/67/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2221/Committee/69/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2227/Committee/77/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2240/Committee/77/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2241/Committee/77/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2188/Committee/75/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2203/Committee/63/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2222/Committee/69/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2209/Committee/70/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2238/Committee/74/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx


 

49 

 

Environment & Sustainable Communities 
Committee 

19.06.24 CMIS > Meetings 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee 01.07.24 CMIS > Meetings 
Skills & Employment Committee  17.06.24 CMIS > Meetings 
Transport & Infrastructure Committee 26.06.24 CMIS > Meetings 

 
 

 
 

Page 63

https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2189/Committee/75/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2215/Committee/68/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2196/Committee/76/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx
https://cambridgeshirepeterboroughcagov.cmis.uk.com/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/2176/Committee/67/SelectedTab/Documents/Default.aspx


   

 

50 

 

Key PIs: 
 
Key PI Description Target 22/23 Cumulative 

Target 
Cumulative 

Performance 
 Variance 

(RAG) 
PRC1 % of customer queries processed at the first point of 

contact 
99% 90% 99%   

PRC2 % of customers satisfied with our service (measured 
annually in February) 

86% 90% N/A 
(Feb 2024) 

97.94% 

  

PRC3 % of contact centre calls answered within 20 
seconds 

47.49% 46.5% 43.96%   

PRC4 % of contact centre calls handled 87.96% 80% 83.46%   

ARP3 In year % of Council Tax collected 96.76% 96.76% 96.40%   

ARP4 Council Tax net collection fund receipts £65,262,181 £68,755,817 £68,341,134   

ARP5 In year % of NNDR collected 97.10% 97.10% 96.58   

ARP6 NNDR net collection fund receipts £24,120,990 £24,779,458 £25,460,126   

PRC5 Number of online forms submitted via FDC website 21,504 21,000    

 
Key: 
 Within 5% of target 
 5-10% below target 
 10% or more below target 
 
 

P
age 64



 

Motion submitted by Councillor Matthew Summers regarding Planning 
 
 
 
Planning is one of this council’s biggest, most important responsibilities and one of 
the most emotive topics for the communities that we serve. Currently however, there 
is no third party right of appeal, only an applicant can appeal to the Planning 
Inspectorate against a refusal of permission. There are therefore no opportunities for 
the community to appeal a grant of planning permission (or a refusal) other than 
judicial review which is costly and constrained only to the reasonableness or legality 
of the decision. It is clear that there is room for manoeuvrability within local 
procedures which would provide an opportunity to show our communities that we 
take their feelings seriously. 
 
Council therefore moves to instruct officers to produce a report detailing the options 
and associated changes to the constitution, policies and procedures for council to 
consider creating a mechanism for local reviews to take place and the potential 
impacts on decision making and resources. By carrying this motion, council is not 
approving any changes at this stage, but officers should focus on: 
  

1. A mechanism for the ratification of significant planning committee decisions 
and the level at which that should be set e.g. applications for over 25 
dwellings. 
 

2. An opportunity for members to call in a Planning Committee decision for 
review and the circumstances in which that would be possible. 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Motion submitted by Councillor Chris Boden regarding the use of 
Industrial Bottom Ash Aggregates (IBAA) 

 
IBAA is an aggregate substitute, most commonly used in road construction, 
construction platforms, pipe bedding and other construction activities. IBAA is 
deemed by the Environment Agency (EA) to be a waste product derived from 
incinerator bottom ash after most ferrous metals, non-ferrous metals and other 
wastes have been screened out or otherwise removed. It is a heterogeneous 
material that can commonly consist of concrete, ceramics, glass, brick, clinker 
metals and fused materials, but can include materials from batteries, sanitary 
products and other hazardous or toxic products. It is a material that is prone to be 
dusty, that creates an unpleasant odour, and that should not be allowed to leach into 
water courses or sources.  

The EA states that the use of IBAA in construction is a deposit of waste for recovery 
and a groundwater activity which should be carried out under an environmental 
permit. However, for licensing purposes, Cambridgeshire County Council (CCC) 
appears on at least some occasions to be treating IBAA as a product, rather than as 
waste, and thus subject to far weaker controls and protections.  

IBAA is generally deemed safe to use in construction projects when it is capped with 
an impermeable membrane and is used at a safe distance from watercourses. The 
EA currently has a Regulatory Position Statement (RPS 247) in force, on a 
temporary basis until 31st January 2025, under which the EA will not enforce 
regulations against potentially dangerous use of unbound IBAA in construction 
projects on condition that the IBAA used is (inter alia) (a) limited in quantity; (b) not 
used in connection with residential construction or under a residential garden; (c) not 
a risk to water, air, soil, plants or animals. 

 

FULL COUNCIL: 

1. Expresses concern about unregulated or weakly regulated use of unbound IBAA 
in all circumstances in Fenland, especially given that we live in a flat, marshy, 
agricultural region of the UK, so we are particularly vulnerable to leachate and water 
table pollution issues 

2. Seeks assurances from the EA that its Regulatory Position Statement RPS247 not 
be extended beyond 31st January 2025, or that, if it is extended, the conditions 
under which the extension is granted are tightened to give greater assurance that the 
use of unbound IBAA will not cause (nor will be likely to cause) pollution of the 
Environment or harm to human health. 

3. Requests that FDC Environmental Health raise with both CCC and the EA the 
concerning apparent categorisation (at least on occasion) of IBAA as a product 
rather than as waste by CCC, and that FDC presses CCC to formally recognise IBAA 
as a waste product. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 11



 

4. Resolves that FDC confirms it treats IBAA as a waste and that, in any potentially 
relevant planning applications at FDC, we ask if unbound IBAA is proposed to be 
used and that FDC notifies the EA in all cases if unbound IBAA is proposed to be 
used.  
 
5. Recognises that the EA is the subject matter expert and lead agency for IBAA and 
calls on CCC formally to recognise that the EA is the subject matter expert and lead 
agency for IBAA.  
 
6. Resolves that the published EA FAQ sheet entitled "Incinerator Bottom Ash (IBA) 
and Incinerator Bottom Ash Aggregate (IBAA) FAQs" should be sent by FDC to all 
FDC councillors, to Parish & Town Clerks within Fenland and to relevant council 
employees at FDC so that they are fully aware of this issue, and that CCC be 
requested to send the FAQ to their councillors and relevant council employees. 
 
7. Agrees additionally that this motion be sent to the EA, to CCC, to Stephen Barclay 
MP in his capacity as our MP and to Stephen Barclay MP in his capacity as 
Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs.   
 

Page 68



   

Agenda Item No.: 12 

 

Committee: Annual Council 

Date:  20th May 2024 

Report Title: Committee Balance, Political Balance and Allocation of Seats 

COVER SHEET 
 

1. Purpose/Summary 
 

1.1. The purpose of this Report is to agree the committee structures and terms of 
reference for the forthcoming municipal year as well as confirming the 
allocation of seats to those committees and also to outside bodies in 
accordance with political proportionality rules and to receive notification of the 
appointments to committees. 

 

2. Key Issues 
 

2.1. The Constitution provides under Rule 1, paragraph 1.2 that at the Annual 
Meeting, Council will: 
 

2.1.1. determine which committees and panels should be established for the 
 ensuing municipal year; 

2.1.2. agree the terms of reference for those committees/panels as outlined in 
 the Constitution; 

2.1.3. allocate the seats and position of the Chairman and Vice Chairman to 
 Political Groups in accordance with political proportionality rules where 
 appropriate in respect of committees, panels and outside bodies; 

2.1.4. receive notification and to appoint Councillors to the allocated seats on 
 each committee and panel and to serve as Chairman and Vice-
Chairman. 
 

2.2. In accordance with the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, seats are 
proportionately allocated to political groups (paragraphs 15 and 16) however, 
it is possible to agree a variation to those arrangements provided that there is 
no dissenting vote (paragraph 17).  Where there is dissent, the strict legal 
position must be adhered to. Political Groups are allocated seats proportionate 
to their size. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 12



   

3. Recommendations 

 
It is recommended that Council agrees: 
 
3.1. Approves the Committees and Panels set out at Appendix A for the 2024/25 

municipal year; 
3.2. Agrees the terms of reference set out at Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution in 

relation to the committees and panels referred to at paragraph 3.1 above; 
3.3. Agrees the politically proportionate allocation of seats to Committees and 

Panels as set out in Appendix B; and 
3.4. Agrees the allocation of seats and position of Chairman and Vice Chairman 

also as set out in Appendix B; 
3.5. Agrees the appointments to seats allocated in accordance with paragraph 3.4 

above (Appendix B) including any co-opted or non-members; 
3.6. Agrees the list of Outside Bodies as set out at Appendix C for 2024/25;  
3.7. Agrees the politically proportionate allocation of seats to Outside Bodies all as 

set out in Appendix C; 
3.8. Notes that the distribution of seats amongst Outside Bodies, to achieve overall 

political proportionality based on the allocations approved at paragraph 3.7 
above and the subsequent appointments to those seats will be discussed 
between Group Leaders and presented for approval at the next meeting of 
Cabinet on 17th June 2024. 
 
 

Wards Affected All 

Forward Plan 
Reference 

N/A 

Portfolio Holder(s) Cllr Chris Boden – Leader of the Council 
 

Report Originator(s) Carol Pilson – Corporate Director 
Amy Brown – Assistant Director 

Contact Officer(s) Paul Medd – Chief Executive  
Email: paulmedd@fenland.gov.uk  
Carol Pilson – Corporate Director 
Email: cpilson@fenland.gov.uk  
Amy Brown – Assistant Director 
Email:  amybrown@fenland.gov.uk  
 

Background Papers Fenland District Council’s Constitution 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REPORT 

Page 70

mailto:paulmedd@fenland.gov.uk
mailto:cpilson@fenland.gov.uk
mailto:amybrown@fenland.gov.uk


   

 

1.  BACKGROUND AND INTENDED OUTCOMES 

 

1.1 For each municipal year, Council must agree the Committees and Panels 
 which are to be established together with their terms of reference. On 
 establishing the Committees and Panels, in accordance with the rules relating 
 to Political Proportionality the seats on each committee and panel together 
 with the position of Chairman and Vice Chairman are then allocated to Political 
 Parties. Council also receives notification of the appointments to these 
 Committees and is required to confirm allocations to Outside Bodies based 
 again on political proportionality. 
 
 
2.  COMMITTEE STRUCTURE 
 
2.1  The Constitution provides that the Council considers the establishment 

 and terms of reference of committees at its Annual Meeting.  This must be 
 determined before seats can be allocated to committees in accordance with the 
 political proportionality rules. 

 
2.2  The Committees and Panels of Fenland District Council are as identified in 

 Appendix A and their terms or reference are as set out at Part 3 of the 
 Constitution. 

 
 
3 ALLOCATION OF SEATS 

 
3.1  Political Proportionality 

 
3.1.1 The Constitution provides that the Council’s allocation of seats and positions of 

Chairman and Vice Chairman are subject to political balance arrangements 
where appropriate. 
 

3.1.2 The rules relating to political proportionality in relation to membership of 
committees are set out in the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the 
supporting regulations. 

  
3.1.3 For the purposes of the Act, the Local Government (Committees and Political 

Groups) Regulations 1990 specify that a political group must consist of two or 
more members who have signed a declaration to that effect.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



   

3.1.4 Where one or more groups exist the relative proportions of the groups should 
be used in allocating seats on committees/outside bodies. Any elected 
members who are not part of a group are not automatically allocated seats on 
committees unless any remain unallocated after political groups have been 
given their proportionate allocation. This is the basis upon which the 
calculations comprised within this report have been made. 

 
3.2  Outside Bodies 

 
3.2.1 Also, in accordance with legislative requirements, local and national 

convention, allocations to seats on outside bodies are to the majority group 
where there are 2 or fewer seats available but in all other cases politically 
proportionate percentages are applied to recognised groups or, where 
alternative arrangements are agreed, such other nominees as may be 
appropriate.  The list of Outside Bodies and the allocation of seats in is as set 
out at Appendix C and have again been calculated in accordance with the 
ordinary provisions of the 1989 Act. 

 
3.2.2 Confirmation of membership to the Outside Bodies will be undertaken at the 

first meeting of Cabinet on 17th June 2023. 
 
4 COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS 

 
4.1  The Constitution provides that Council agrees the appointments to the 

 seats  allocated at paragraph 3.1 above. 
 

4.2  The terms of reference of the Conduct Committee also provide for the 
 appointment of up to 2 co-opted members and Independent Persons. 

 
4.3  The proposed allocations for the forthcoming municipal year are as set out 

 at Appendix B together with the positions of Chairman and Vice 
 Chairman. 

 
5  CONSULTATION 

 
5.1  The proposals set out in the Appendices to this Report will be formulated in 

 consultation with relevant Group Leaders. 
 

6 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 

6.1 The proposals set out in this Report reflect legal and constitutional 
requirements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 72



   

7 IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 Legal Implications 
 
7.1.1 The proposals set out in this report meet with the Council’s legal and 
 constitutional obligations. 
 
7.2 Financial Implications 
 
7.2.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
 
8 Equality Implications 
 
8.1.1 There are no specific equality implications associated with these proposals. 
 
9 APPENDICES 
 
9.1.1 Appendix A: Proposed Committees and Panels for 2024/25 
9.1.2 Appendix B: Proposed Allocation of and Appointments to seats on Committees 

  and Panels. 
9.1.4 Appendix C: Allocation of Seats on Outside Bodies 

Page 73



   

APPENDIX A - PROPOSED COMMITTEES AND  

PANELS FOR 2024/25 

 

NB:  The proposals in relation to substitute members have been formulated on the basis 

of there being up to 4 substitutes per committee for each group save in respect of where 

that group’s substantive allocation is less than 4 in which case the number of 

substitutes will be commensurate with that number. 

 

Committee Allocation of Seats 
Overview & Scrutiny Panel 13 substantive seats with 6 substitute members. 

 

Planning Committee 7 substantive seats with each political group able to 
allocate a number of substitutes commensurate with their 
substantive allocation up to a maximum of 4.  
 
No more than 2 Cabinet Members. 
 

Licensing Committee 
(Licensing Act 2003) 

13 substantive seats with 6 substitute members. 
 
The same Members to be appointed for the Licensing Act 
2003 Committee and the Non Licensing Act 2003 
Committee. 
 

Audit & Risk Management 
Committee 

7 substantive seats comprised of: 
 
No more than 2 members of Cabinet and not to include 
the portfolio holder responsible for finance; 
 
5 substitute members. 
 

Employment Committee 7 substantive seats and 5 substitute members. 
 

Conduct Committee 7 substantive seats and 5 substitute members. 
 
2 members of Town and Parish Councils, an Independent 
and Deputy Independent Person. 
 

Appointments Panel 7 substantive and 5 substitute members. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 74



   

Appendix B – Proposed Allocation of and Appointments to seats on 

Committees and Panels – 2024/25. 

 

FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL – OVERALL PROPORTIONALITY 
Conservative 35 83.33% 

FIA 7 16.66% 

Ungrouped 1 N/A 

 
There are 86 committee seats overall which applying the above percentages results 
in the following allocations: 
 

Conservative FIA Ungrouped Total 

Entitlement: 71.66 

Allocation:  72 

Entitlement: 14.32 

Allocation: 14 

N/A 86 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



   

Committee/ 
Panel 

Group No. Substantive Nominee 
 

Substitute 

Overview & Scrutiny 
13 substantive 
6 substitute 

Conservative 10 Maureen Davis (C) Gary Christy 

Elisabeth Sennitt Cough 
(VC) 

Stuart Harris 

James Carney Jason Mockett 

Lucie Foice-Beard David Connor 

Alan Gowler  

Anne Hay  

Sidney Imafidon  

Haq Nawaz  

Brenda Barber  

Andrew Woollard  

FIA 3 Gavin Booth John Clark 

Dal Roy Paul Hicks 

Unallocated Unallocated 

Ungrouped 0 N/A N/A 

Planning Committee  
7 substantive 
5 substitute  

Conservative 6 David Connor (C) Billy Rackley 

Charlie Marks (VC) Sam Clark 

Jan French Mark Purser 

Sidney Imafidon Peter Murphy 

Ian Benney  

Cllr Mayor  

FIA 1 Paul Hicks Gavin Booth 

Ungrouped 0 N/A N/A 

Licensing Committee  
13 substantive 
6 substitute 

Conservative 11 David Oliver (C) Brenda Barber 

Michael Humphrey (VC) Jan French 

James Carney Dee Laws 

Alan Gowler Jason Mockett 

Stuart Harris  

Anne Hay  

Kay Mayor  

Nick Meekins  

Alex Miscandlon  

Peter Murphy  

Andrew Woollard  

FIA 
 

2 Diane Cutler Gavin Booth 

Paul Hicks Matthew Summers 

Unaligned 0 N/A N/A 

Audit and Risk 
Management 
Committee  
7 substantive 
5 substitute 

Conservative 6 Kim French (C) Ian Benney 

Jason Mockett (VC) Lucie Foice-Beard 

Gary Christy Sue Wallwork 

Steve Tierney Haq Nawaz 

Stuart Harris  

Conservative - unallocated  

FIA 1 Gavin Booth John Clark 

Unaligned 0 N/A 
 
 

N/A 

Page 76



   

Committee/ 
Panel 

Group No. Substantive Nominee 
 

Substitute 

Employment 
Committee  
7 substantive 
5 substitute 

Conservative 6 Gary Christy (C) Lucie Foice-Beard 

Haq Nawaz (VC) David Connor 

Ian Benney Anne Hay 

Alan Gowler Kay Mayor 

Sidney Imafidon  

Maureen Davis  

FIA 1 John Clark Gavin Booth 

Unaligned 0 N/A N/A 

Conduct Committee  
7 substantive 
5 substitute 

Conservative 6 Steve Count (C) Brenda Barber 

Alan Gowler (VC) David Connor 

Billy Rackley Maureen Davis 

Mark Purser Anne Hay 

Tim Taylor  

Jason Mockett  

FIA 1 David Patrick Diane Cutler 

Unaligned 0 N/A N/A 

Independent and 
Deputy Independent 
Person 

Stuart Webster Claire Hawden-Beale 

Town and Parish 
Members 

Martin Field and Jason Ablewhite 

Appointments Panel  
7 substantive 
5 substitute 

Conservative 6 Chris Boden (C) Ian Benney 

Jan French (VC) Kim French 

Sam Hoy David Oliver 

Steve Tierney Haq Nawaz 

Michael Humphrey  

Kay Mayor  

FIA 1 Gavin Booth John Clark 

Unaligned 0 N/A N/A 

Culture Arts & 
Heritage Executive 
Advisory Committee 
7 substantive 
5 substitute  

Conservative 6 Elisabeth  Sennett-
Clough (C) 

Gary Christy 

Sam Hoy (VC) Stuart Harris 

Steve County Steve Tierney 

Lucie Foice-Beard Susan Wallwork 

Mark Purser  

Haq Nawaz  

FIA 1 Paul Hicks Diane Cutler 

Ungrouped 0 N/A N/A 

Rural and Farming 
Executive Advisory 
Committee 
7 substantive 
5 substitute  

Conservative 6 Tim Taylor (C) Brenda Barber 

Jan French (VC) Alan Gowler 

Steve Count Nick Meekins 

Michael Humphrey David Oliver 

Charlie Marks  

Councillor Laws  

FIA 1 John Clark Matthew Summers 

Gavin Booth  

Ungrouped 0 N/A 
 

N/A 

Page 77



   

Committee/ 
Panel 

Group No. Substantive Nominee 
 

Substitute 

Project Review 
Executive Advisory 
Committee 
11 substantive 
6 substitute 

Conservative 9 James Carney Brenda Barber 

Sam Clark Alan Gowler 

Steve Count Jason Mockett 

Kim French David Oliver 

Michael Humphrey  

Stuart Harris  

Billy Rackley  

Kay Mayor  

Andrew Woollard  

FIA 2 Gavin Booth Diane Cutler 

John Clark Matthew Summers 

Unaligned 0 N/A N/A 

 

The Leader will also make the following appointments to Cabinet: 

Portfolio Holder Portfolio Description 

Councillor Chris Boden Leader and Portfolio holder for Finance 

Councillor Jan French Deputy Leader and Portfolio holder for Revenues and 

Benefits and CPE 

Councillor Ian Benney Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth and Skills 

Councillor Sam Hoy Portfolio Holder for Housing and Licensing 

Councillor Dee Laws Portfolio Holder for Planning and Flooding 

Councillor Alex Miscandlon Portfolio Holder for Leisure and IDBs 

Councillor Peter Murphy Portfolio Holder for Refuse & Cleansing, Parks & Open 

Spaces 

Councillor Chris Seaton Portfolio Holder for Transport, Heritage and Culture 

Councillor Steve Tierney Portfolio Holder for Comms, Transformation, Climate 

Change, Strategic Refuse 

Councillor Sue Wallwork Portfolio Holder for Community, Health, 

Environmental Health, CCTV, Community Safety and 

Military Covenant. 

 

 

 

Page 78



   

Appendix C - Allocation of Seats on Outside Bodies 

 

The same percentages for the purpose of the calculations have been applied as set 
out in Appendix B and create the following results: 

 

Conservative FIA Ungrouped Total 

Entitlement: 118 

Allocation:  123 

Entitlement: 24 

Allocation: 19 

N/A 142 

 

Based on the above, provided the overall entitlement is agreed by Full Council, the 
recommendations make provision for Group Leaders to negotiate the reallocation of 
seats before appointments are finally confirmed and agreed at the next Cabinet 
meeting in June. 

 

As the proposals reflect the ordinary application of the 1989 Act (as opposed to the 
Alternative Arrangements agreed by Full Council last year), the ungrouped member 
would lose their 1 seat on the Hundred of Wisbech IDB which automatically becomes 
an a vacant FIA (as reflected  in the Table below).  Furthermore, the overall agreed 
allocation of seats for 2023/24 resulted in the conservative group gaining 5 seats.  The 
data presented in the Table represents the current position (save in respect of the 
amendments in relation to the ungrouped seat) and remain open for 
discussion/negotiation between the Leaders as appropriate.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 79



   

Outside Body Representation 

Required  

Proportionality Substantive 

Nominee 

Substitute 

Anglia Revenue 

Partnership 

1 substantive 

2 substitutes 

Conservative J French D Connor 

C Boden 

Benwick Internal 

Drainage Board 

(IDB) 

4 3 Conservative 
1 FIA 

A Miscandlon 

T Taylor 

K Mayor 

FIA - unallocated 

N/A 

Cambridgeshire 

Horizons Board 

1 Conservative C Boden N/A 

Cambridgeshire 

Military Community 

Covenant Board 

1 Conservative A Gowler N/A 

Cambridgeshire 

Police and Crime 

Panel 

1 substantive 

1 substitute 

Conservative S Wallwork L Foice-Beard 

Cambridgeshire 

Health and 

Wellbeing Board + 

District Lead 

Members Group 

1  Conservative S Wallwork N/A 

Chatteris 

Community Centre 

Association 

2 Conservative P Murphy 

I Benney 

N/A 

College of West 

Anglia Governing 

Body 

1 Conservative I Benney N/A 

Community Learning 

and Skills 

Partnership 

1 Conservative I Benney N/A 

Curf and 

Wimblington 

Combined IDB 

1 Conservative A Gowler N/A 

Feldale IDB 7 6 Conservative 
1 FIA 

A Miscandlon 

C Boden 

K Mayor 

D Laws 

E Sennitt Clough 

H Nawaz 

FIA unallocated 

N/A 

Fenland Association 

of Community 

Transport 

1 Conservative C Seaton N/A 

Fenland Diverse 

Communities Forum 

1 Conservative S Wallwork N/A 

Page 80



   

Outside Body Representation 

Required  

Proportionality Substantive 

Nominee 

Substitute 

Fenland Health and 

Care Forum 

Open meeting  Any members can 

attend 

 

Fenland Tension 

Monitoring Group 

1 Conservative D Oliver N/A 

Fenland Transport 

and Access 

Partnership 

1 Conservative C Seaton N/A 

Fenland Transport 

Strategy 

2 Conservative C Seaton 

S Count 

N/A 

Fenland Twinning 

Association 

4 3 Conservative 
1 FIA 

K Mayor 

N Meekins 

M Davis 

D Cutler 

N/A 

Hanson, Fletton 

Brickworks Industry 

1 Conservative C Boden N/A 

Health Committee 1 substantive 

1 substitute 

Conservative H Nawaz S Wallwork 

Hundred of Wisbech 

IDB 

15 12 Conservative 
3 FIA 

J French 

A Miscandlon 

D Oliver 

D Laws 

C Marks 

C Boden 

B Barber 

M Davis 

C Seaton 

S Imafidon 

H Nawaz 

S Hoy 

D Roy 

G Booth 

FIA unallocated 

 

N/A 

Kings Lynn IDB 1 Conservative D Oliver N/A 

LGA/ LGA Rural 

Commission/ LGA 

Urban Commission 

1 substantive 

1 substitute 

Conservative C Boden J French 

Manea and Welney 

Drainage 

Commissioners 

3 2 Conservative 
1 FIA 

J Carney 

C Marks 

FIA - unallocated 

N/A 

March Area 

Transport Study 

2 Conservative S Count 

A Woollard 

 

N/A 

Page 81



   

Outside Body Representation 

Required  

Proportionality Substantive 

Nominee 

Substitute 

March West and 

White Fen Internal 

Drainage Board  

6 5 Conservative 
1FIA 

D Laws 

A Miscandlon 

J French 

T Taylor 

A Woollard 

FIA – unallocated 

N/A 

March East IDB 11 9 Conservative 
2 FIA 

G Christy 

J French 

A Miscandlon 

C Boden 

M Purser 

M Davis 

S Harris 

C Marks 

T Taylor 

J Clark 

P Hicks 

N/A 

March Education 

Foundation 

1 Conservative M Purser N/A 

March Fifth District 

Drainage 

Commissioners  

8 7 Conservative 
1 FIA 

J French 

A Miscandlon 

S Harris 

A Woollard 

C Marks 

C Boden 

T Taylor 

FIA - unallocated 

N/A 

March Sixth District 

Drainage 

Commissioners 

4 3 Conservative 
1 FIA 

J French 

A Miscandlon 

C Marks 

FIA - unallocated 

N/A 

March Third IDB 5 4 Conservative 
1 FIA 

J French 

A Miscandlon 

T Taylor 

C Marks 

FIA - unallocated 

N/A 

Middle Level 

Commissioners 

3 2 Conservative 
1 FIA 

D Laws 

A Miscandlon 

FIA – unallocated 

N/A 

Needham and 

Laddus IDB 

1 Conservative C Marks 

 

 

 

N/A 

Page 82



   

Outside Body Representation 

Required  

Proportionality Substantive 

Nominee 

Substitute 

Nightlayer IDB 10 8 Conservative 
2 FIA 

I Benney 
A Hay 
C Marks 
A Gowler 
P Murphy 
K Mayor 
J French 
T Taylor 
C Boden 
A Miscandlon 

N/A 

North Level District 

IDB 

7 6 Conservative 
1 FIA 

D Laws 

A Miscandlon 

K Mayor 

S Clark 

M Humphrey 

C Marks 

G Booth 

N/A 

Wisbech Community 

Development Trust 

(Oasis Village 

Centre) 

1 Conservative L Foice-Beard N/A 

Ransonmoor District 

Drainage 

Commissioners 

2 Conservative J French 

T Taylor 

N/A 

RECAP 1 substantive 

1 substitute 

Conservative P Murphy  

Rural Cambs CAB 3 2 Conservative 
1 FIA 

A Miscandlon 

S Imafidon 

G Booth 

N/A 

Safer Fenland 

Partnership 

1 Conservative J Carney N/A 

The Wash and North 

Norfolk Marine 

Partnership 

1 Conservative D Oliver N/A 

The Combined 

Authority 

1 substantive 
1 substitute 

Conservative C Boden J French 

The Combined 

Authority Overview 

and Scrutiny 

Committee 

2 substantive 

2 substitutes 

 Conservative M Davis 

A Hay 

E Sennitt 

Clough 

S Tierney 

The Combined 

Authority Audit and 

Governance 

Committee 

1 substantive 

1 substitute 

Conservative G Christy S Wallwork 

Page 83



   

Outside Body Representation 

Required  

Proportionality Substantive 

Nominee 

Substitute 

The Combined 

Authority HR 

Committee 

1 substantive 

1 substitute 

Conservative C Boden J French 

The Combined 

Authority 

Environment and 

Sustainable  

Communities 

Committee 

1 substantive 

1 substitute 

Conservative D Laws S Hoy 

The Combined 

Authority Transport 

and Infrastructure 

Committee 

1 substantive 

1 substitute 

Conservative C Seaton H Nawaz 

The Combined 

Authority 

Employment and 

Skills Committee 

1 substantive 

1 substitute 

Conservative I Benney H Nawaz 

Upwell IDB 2 Conservative J French 

C Marks 

N/A 

Waldersey IDB 2 Conservative A Miscandlon 

M Humphrey 

N/A 

Warboys, 

Somersham and 

Pidley IDB 

1 Conservative J Carney N/A 

Whittlesey & District 

IDB 

5 4 Conservative 
1 FIA 

A Miscandlon 

D Laws 

K Mayor 

H Nawaz 

FIA – unallocated 

N/A 

Wisbech Access 

Strategy Member 

Steering Group  

2 Conservative S Imafadon 

C Seaton 

N/A 

Young People 

March 

1  Conservative M Purser N/A 

Water Resources 

East (WRE) 

Strategic Advisory 

Group 

1 Conservative D Laws N/A 

TOTAL 142 substantive 

14 substitutions 

 
123 Conservative 
19 FIA 

  

 

Page 84



COVER SHEET 

1 Purpose / Summary 

1.1 This report requests the Council to make appointments to the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Combined Authority for the municipal year 2024/2025. 

2 Key Issues 
2.1 In accordance with the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority Order 2017, 

each Constituent Council must appoint one of its elected members and a substitute 
member to the Combined Authority Board. This is usually the Leader of the Council.  

2.2. The Council is also asked to make appointments to the Combined Authority Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, Audit and Governance Committee and HR Committee in line with 
political proportionality across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. 

2.3 The Leader is responsible for making appointments to the following thematic committees;
Environment and Sustainable Communities, Skills and Employment and Transport and 
Infrastructure. 

3 Recommendations 

Members are requested to: 

3.1 Make the following appointments/nominations to the Cambridgeshire and  Peterborough 
Combined Authority for the municipal year 2024/25: 

3.1.1 appoint the Leader of Council to act as the Council's appointee to the Combined Authority 
and one substitute member as set out in Appendix 3; 

3.1.2 nominate two members to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and two  substitute
members from the same political parties as those appointed as set out in Appendix 3; 

3.1.3 nominate one member to the Audit and Governance Committee and one substitute 
member from the same political party as set out in Appendix 3. 

3.2 Note the Leader’s nominated appointments to the Thematic Committees as set out at 
Appendix 3 and highlighted in green. 

3.3 Delegates authority to the Chief Executive to make any amendments to the 
appointments to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Audit and Governance 
Committee in consultation with the Political Group Leaders as required between now and the 
next Annual Meeting of Council. 

Agenda Item No: 

Committee: Annual Council 

Date: 20th May 2024 

Report Title: Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Combined Authority Appointments 

13

Page 85

Agenda Item 13



Wards Affected All 

Forward Plan 
Reference 

N/A 

Portfolio Holder(s) Councillor Boden, Leader of the Council 
 

Report 
Originator(s) 

Paul Medd – Chief Executive – paulmedd@fenland.gov.uk  
Peter Catchpole - Corporate Director with responsibility for Governance - 
PeterCatchpole@fenland.gov.uk    
Amy Brown - Assistant Director & Deputy Monitoring Officer – 
amybrown@fenland.gov.uk  
Carol Pilson – Corporate Director and Monitoring Officer 
cpilson@fenland.gov.uk  
 

Contact Officer(s) Elaine Cooper, - Team Leader for Elections, Land charges and Member 
Services – ecooper@fenland.gov.uk  
 

Background 
Papers 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority Order 2017 

 
REPORT 
 
1 COMBINED AUTHORITY BOARD APPOINTMENTS 
 
1.1 In accordance with the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority Order 2017, 
 each Constituent Council must appoint one of its elected members and a substitute member 
 to the Combined Authority.  Each Council made these appointments at its respective Council 
 meeting in May 2017 for the 2017/18 municipal year and is requested to do so for each 
 subsequent municipal year. The Council is now asked to appoint members and substitute 
 members for the municipal year 2024/25.  

2 OTHER APPOINTMENTS 
 
2.1 Non-Executive Committees 

 
 2.1.1 The Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to 

 Information and Audit Committees) Order 2016 requires the  Combined Authority to 
 establish an Overview and Scrutiny Committee and an Audit Committee.  The Order 
 sets out the rules for membership.  The membership of the Overview and Scrutiny and 
 the Audit Committees as a whole should reflect so far as reasonably practicable  the 
 balance of political parties of the constituent councils when taken together.  The 
 balance is based on membership of political parties, not political groups, on constituent 
 councils across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. 
 
2.1.2 On 2 May 2024, there were local elections for the Cambridge City Council and 
 Peterborough City Council. The Combined Authority has reviewed the political balance 
 on constituent councils and has requested constituent councils to make the 
 following appointments to these committees. 
 
 
 
 

Page 86

mailto:paulmedd@fenland.gov.uk
mailto:PeterCatchpole@fenland.gov.uk
mailto:amybrown@fenland.gov.uk
mailto:cpilson@fenland.gov.uk
mailto:ecooper@fenland.gov.uk


 
2.2 Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
 2.2.1 The Combined Authority agreed that to ensure an equitable representation across 

 each constituent authority, two members from  each council should be appointed to 
 the Overview and Scrutiny  Committee representing a total membership of fourteen 
 members.  

 
2.2.2 The implications of applying political proportionality to a fourteen-member Overview 
 and Scrutiny Committee are detailed in Appendix 1. 
 
2.2.3 The Council is required to nominate two members from the conservative party to the 
 Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the municipal year 2024/25 based on the 
 political balance set out in Appendix 1.  
 

2.3 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 2.3.1 The Combined Authority agreed to establish an Audit and Governance 
 Committee consisting of seven constituent members: one member from each 
 constituent council. 

 
2.3.2 The implications of applying political proportionality to a seven-member Audit and 
 Governance Committee are detailed in Appendix 2.  The Council is required to 
 nominate one member from the Conservative party to sit on the Audit and Governance 
 Committee for the municipal year  2024/25 based on the political balance set out in 
 Appendix 2.  
 

2.4 SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 
 

2.4.1 The Combined Authority has agreed that substitute members should be appointed for 
 each position on the Audit and Governance Committee and the Overview and Scrutiny 
 Committee.  Any substitute members should come from the same party as the Member 
 they are substituting for to maintain political balance. 
 
2.4.2  For the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, if constituent councils have appointed 
 members from the same political parties, those Councils might only wish to appoint 
 one substitute rather than two.  The quorum set down in legislation is two thirds of the 
 total membership.  Therefore, it is preferable to appoint two members in case both 
 members are absent from a meeting and need to substitute. 
 

2.5 THEMATIC COMMITTEES 
 
2.5.1 The appointment of one member and a substitute to the thematic Committees is a 
 decision for the Leader. The Council is therefore asked to note the proposed 
 appointments to the Environment and Sustainable Communities, Skills and 
 Employment, Transport and Infrastructure and Investment Committee for the 
 municipal year 2024/25 as set out in Appendix 3 to this Report.    
 
 
 
 

Page 87



 
3 CONSULTATION 
 
3.1 All appointments and nominations make by constituent councils will be reported to the 
 Combined Authority’s annual meeting on 5 June 2024. 
 
3.2 The political balance calculations in the Appendices are based on up-to-date statistics given 
 by constituent councils and take account of the outcome of the local elections that took place 
 on the 2 May 2024. However, there may be last minute changes in the lead up to constituent 
 councils’ annual meetings and Combined Authority’s annual meeting on 5 June 2024. 
 
3.3 If there are consequential changes to the overall political balance, the Combined Authority 
 may need to review the membership and the allocation of seats to political parties on the 
 above committees. The Monitoring Officer will advise constituent councils if any 
 subsequent changes have been necessary, and whether any changes need to be made to 
 their nominations.  It is recommended that the Chief Executive is given delegated authority 
 to make in-year changes to committee appointments throughout the municipal year. 

4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
4.1 There are no viable alternative options as the proposals set out in this report reflect the legal 
 requirements associated with the function of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
 Combined Authority.   
 

5 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Financial Implications  

 
5.1.1 In accordance with the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority Order 
 2017, no remuneration is to be payable by the  Combined Authority to its members.  
 

5.2 Legal Implications  
 
5.2.1 These are set out in the report. The Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny
 Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2016 requires a 
 combined authority to ensure that the members of the committee taken as a whole 
 reflect so far as reasonably practicable the balance of political parties for the time 
 being prevailing among members of the constituent councils when taken together.  
 

5.3 Equalities Implications  
 
5.3.1 There are no equalities implications arising from this report. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



 
6 APPENDICES 
 
 Appendix 1 – Overview and Scrutiny Committee political balance calculations. 
 
 Appendix 2 – Audit and Governance Committee political balance calculations. 
 
 Appendix 3 – Combined Authority Appointments 
 
 Accessible versions of the appendices are available on request from 

Democratic.Services@cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk. 
 
 
7 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
7.1 None applicable. 
  

Page 89

mailto:Democratic.Services@cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee of 14
POLITICAL BALANCE ACROSS THE COUNTY as at 3 May 2024

Total Va
ca

nc
y

C
on

se
rv

at
iv

e

La
bo

ur

Li
be

ra
l D

em
oc

ra
ts

In
de

pe
nd

en
t 

G
re

en

St
. N

eo
ts

 In
de

pe
nd

en
t

Pe
te

rb
or

ou
gh

 F
irs

t

Total 
(exc. 
Ind) Entitlement

CAMBRIDGESHIRE 2 22 9 23 6 1 55 1 Con; 1 Lib Dem
CAMBRIDGE CITY 2 1 25 10 1 5 41 2 Lab
EAST CAMBS. 2 15 13 28 1 Con; 1 Lib Dem
FENLAND 2 35 2 6 37 2 Con
HUNTINGDONSHIRE 2 20 4 12 15 1 37 1 Con; 1 Lib Dem
PETERBOROUGH 2 11 19 8 4 4 14 56 1 Lab; 1 Peterborough First
SOUTH CAMBS. 2 9 35 1 44 2 Lib Dem
TOTAL 14 0 113 57 103 33 10 1 14 298

POLITICAL BALANCE % 37.92 19.13 34.56 3.36 0.34 4.70
Seat allocation 5 3 5 0 0 0 1 14
Committee seat allocation 14 5.30872 2.6779 4.8389 0 0.4698 0.047 0.6577

Page 90



 
APPENDIX 2 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 
 
  

Audit and Governance Committee of Seven
POLITICAL BALANCE ACROSS THE COUNTY as at 3 May 2024

Total Va
ca

nc
y

C
on

se
rv

at
iv

e

La
bo

ur

Li
be

ra
l D

em
oc

ra
ts

In
de

pe
nd

en
t 

G
re

en

St
. N

eo
ts

 In
de

pe
nd

en
t

Pe
te

rb
or

ou
gh

 F
irs

t

Total 
(exc. 
Ind) Entitlement

CAMBRIDGESHIRE 1 22 9 23 6 1 55 1 Liberal Democrat
CAMBRIDGE CITY 1 1 25 10 1 5 41 1 Labour
EAST CAMBS. 1 15 13 28 1 Conservative
FENLAND 1 35 2 6 37 1 Conservative
HUNTINGDONSHIRE 1 20 4 12 15 1 37 1 Conservative
PETERBOROUGH 1 11 19 8 4 4 14 56 1 Liberal Democrat
SOUTH CAMBS. 1 9 35 1 44 1 Liberal Democrat
TOTAL 7 0 113 57 103 33 10 1 14 298

POLITICAL BALANCE % 37.92 19.13 34.56 3.36 0.34 4.70
Seat allocation 3 1 2 0 0 0 0 7
Committee seat allocation 7 2.6544 1.3389 2.4195 0 0.2349 0.0235 0.3289

Page 91



 
APPENDIX 3 – COMBINED AUTHORITY APPOINTMENTS 

 
 CPCA Board 
 Non-Executive Committees 
 Thematic Committees 

 
 

Committee Proportionality Name of FDC Nominee 
Combined Authority Board 
 

Conservative  Cllr Boden 

Combined Authority Board 
Substitute 

  Conservative  Cllr French 

CPCA Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

  Conservative  Cllr Hay 

CPCA Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

  Conservative   Cllr Sennitt Clough 

CPCA Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Substitute 
 

  Conservative   Cllr Foice-Beard 

CPCA Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Substitute 

  Conservative  Cllr Tierney 

CPCA Audit and Governance 
Committee 

  Conservative   Cllr Christy 

CPCA Audit and Governance 
Committee Substitute 

  Conservative   Cllr Wallwork 

Environment & Sustainable 
Communities Committee 

Conservative  Cllr Tierney 

Environment & Sustainable 
Communities Committee Substitute 

  Conservative  Cllr Laws 

Skills and Employment Committee   Conservative  Cllr Benney 

Skills and Employment Committee 
Substitute 

  Conservative  Cllr Nawaz 

Transport and Infrastructure 
Committee 

Conservative 
 

 Cllr Seaton 

Transport and Infrastructure 
Committee Substitute 

Conservative  Cllr Nawaz 

Investment Committee   Conservative  Cllr Nawaz 

Investment Committee Substitute   Conservative  Cllr Foice-Beard 

 
 
 

Page 92


	Agenda
	4 Previous Minutes
	9 To receive reports from and ask questions of Cabinet members with portfolio holder responsibilities, in accordance with Procedure Rules 8.1 and 8.2.
	10 Motion submitted by Councillor Matthew Summers
	11 Motion submitted by Councillor Chris Boden
	12 Committee Balance, Political Balance and Allocation of Seats
	13 Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Combined Authority Appointments
	COVER SHEET
	1 Purpose / Summary
	2 Key Issues
	3 Recommendations

	REPORT
	1 COMBINED AUTHORITY BOARD APPOINTMENTS
	2 OTHER APPOINTMENTS
	2.1.1 The Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to  Information and Audit Committees) Order 2016 requires the  Combined Authority to  establish an Overview and Scrutiny Committee and an Audit Committee.  The Order  sets out t...
	2.2.1 The Combined Authority agreed that to ensure an equitable representation across  each constituent authority, two members from  each council should be appointed to  the Overview and Scrutiny  Committee representing a total membership of fourteen...
	2.3.1 The Combined Authority agreed to establish an Audit and Governance  Committee consisting of seven constituent members: one member from each  constituent council.

	4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	5 IMPLICATIONS



